

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active.





Pharmacology & Therapeutics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pharmthera

Favipiravir, an anti-influenza drug against life-threatening RNA virus infections



15

Pharmacology Therapeutics

Kimiyasu Shiraki ^{a,*}, Tohru Daikoku ^b

^a Senri Kinran University and Department of Virology, University of Toyama, Japan

^b Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Hokuriku University, Japan

ARTICLE INFO

Available online 22 February 2020

Keywords: Favipiravir Influenza Antiviral agent Ebola Chain termination Resistant virus

ABSTRACT

Favipiravir has been developed as an anti-influenza drug and licensed as an anti-influenza drug in Japan. Additionally, favipiravir is being stockpiled for 2 million people as a countermeasure for novel influenza strains. This drug functions as a chain terminator at the site of incorporation of the viral RNA and reduces the viral load. Favipiravir cures all mice in a lethal influenza infection model, while oseltamivir fails to cure the animals. Thus, favipiravir contributes to curing animals with lethal infection. In addition to influenza, favipiravir has a broad spectrum of anti-RNA virus activities in vitro and efficacies in animal models with lethal RNA viruses and has been used for treatment of human infection with life-threatening Ebola virus, Lassa virus, rabies, and severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome. The best feature of favipiravir as an antiviral agent is the apparent lack of generation of favipiravir-resistant viruses. Favipiravir alone maintains its therapeutic efficacy from the first to the last patient in an influenza pandemic or an epidemic lethal RNA virus infection. Favipiravir is expected to be an important therapeutic agent for severe influenza, the next pandemic influenza strain, and other severe RNA virus infections for which standard treatments are not available.

© 2020 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

	1.	Introduction			
	2.	Development as an anti-influenza drug			
	3.	Mechanisms of action of current anti-influenza drugs and their resistant viruses			
	4.	Seasonal influenza and pandemic influenza			
	5.	A broad spectrum of anti-RNA virus drugs: efficacy in animal models and human infection 8			
	6.	Mechanism of action of favipiravir as a chain terminator			
	7.	Favipiravir-resistant mutants			
	8.	Organ function and lethal virus infection			
	9.	Conclusions and future perspectives			
Acknowledgments					
	Refe	rences			

1. Introduction

Acyclovir enabled the first systemic antiviral therapy, and many antiviral agents have subsequently been developed. Acyclovir targets herpes simplex virus and varicella-zoster infection, and individual antiviral agents target one viral infection caused by one virus or two viruses of the same family (Elion, 1982; Shiraki, 2017, 2018). Among antiviral agents, one of the unique features of favipiravir (T-705) is its broad spectrum activity toward RNA viruses, including influenza virus, rhinovirus, and respiratory syncytial virus, but not DNA viruses, as shown in

Abbreviations: baloxavir, baloxavir marboxil; G-string, guanosine homopolymeric string; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; NA, neuraminidase; NAI, NA inhibitor; PEP, postexposure prophylaxis; RdRp, RNA-dependent RNA polymerase; RTP, 4-ribofuranosyl-5'-triphosphate; SFTS, severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Senri Kinran University, 5-25-1 Fujishirodai, Suita, Osaka 565-0873, Japan.

E-mail address: k-shiraki@cs.kinran.ac.jp (K. Shiraki).

Fig. 1 (Furuta et al., 2002; Furuta et al., 2005; Furuta et al., 2009). Favipiravir shows better efficacy in treating influenza infections than oseltamivir (Tamiflu) (Takahashi et al., 2003; Tanaka et al., 2017), and its efficacy in treating pathogenic avian influenza A(H5N1) and oseltamivir-resistant viruses has been confirmed in animals (Kiso et al., 2010; Sidwell et al., 2007).

Clinical trials of treatments for seasonal influenza have been performed in Japan and US, and favipiravir was approved as a treatment for novel or re-emerging influenza viruses in Japan in 2014. Favipiravir is considered for administration to patients only when the government judges that this drug will be used as a countermeasure against novel or re-emerging influenza viruses. The Japanese government and Taiwanese Centers for Disease Control (CDCs) decided to stockpile favipiravir for the people as a countermeasure for severe influenza. Favipiravir has been submitted for additional indications for severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome (SFTS) based on clinical trials (Yasukawa, 2016) in addition to influenza in Japan.

Favipiravir was highlighted as a treatment during the lethal Ebola virus epidemic in West Africa in 2014 because a standard treatment for lethal Ebola virus infection is not available. Favipiravir has been reported to be effective for prophylaxis and treating lethal Ebola virus infection in animal models (Oestereich et al., 2014; Smither et al., 2014) and is licensed for influenza treatment based on its confirmed safety and efficacy in clinical trials in humans. Based on this information, favipiravir was successfully used for the post-exposure prophylaxis and treatment of patients with Ebola virus infection (Bai et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2015; Sissoko et al., 2016).

Since children died of avian influenza A(H5N1) in Hong Kong in 1997 (Ku & Chan, 1999), concern regarding novel influenza pandemics, such as A(H5N1) and A(H7N9), has been noted because no one is immune to these viruses. Novel influenza strains cause more severe diseases, particularly pneumonia, than seasonal influenza, and the mortality rate is 53.5% (483/903) for influenza A(H5N1) (Lai et al., 2016) and 34% (47/137) for influenza A(H7N9) (Li et al., 2014). A combination therapy with oseltamivir has been used to treat patients with severe influenza in China (Cao, 2018; Wang et al., 2019). Although each novel influenza strain currently occurs sporadically, researchers are concerned about the possibility of a pandemic.

This review describes the specific features of favipiravir, the mechanism of action and the fact that favipiravir alone does not produce resistant viruses among the anti-influenza drugs. These outstanding features of favipiravir among anti-influenza drugs are expected to play a central role in the treatment of lethal influenza pandemic and other severe RNA virus infections for which standard treatments are unavailable and help clinicians, scientists, and policy-makers who are considering preparedness strategies for new influenza pandemics and prevention through vaccine development.

2. Development as an anti-influenza drug

2.1. Discovery of the anti-influenza activity of favipiravir and its development as an anti-influenza drug

In a joint development project with Toyama Chemical Co., Ltd., we initially developed anti-herpes drugs and screened and identified several promising compounds with efficacy, but they did not exceed the efficacy of acyclovir in animals. Approximately 30,000 compounds synthesized in the company were screened for the activity required in each category of drugs, such as antiviral, antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, and nervous system agents. Regarding favipiravir (T-705), one compound showed anti-influenza virus activity and was optimized for activity and efficacy in animal experiments to yield



Fig. 1. Chemical structures of favipiravir and its related compounds. A. Favipiravir (6-fluoro-3-hydroxy-2-pyrazinecarboxamide). T-705 is the code number of favipiravir. B. Guanosine, inosine, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1- β -D-ribofuranoside (AICAR), ribavirin, and ribosyl favipiravir. Guanosine, inosine, and AICAR are biosynthesized in the body, and ribavirin and ribosyl favipiravir are synthesized nucleoside analogues. They have similar chemical structures, but favipiravir and the other two compounds differ because they contain pyrazine, triazole, and imidazole that are marked by red circles.

favipiravir. Our laboratory conducted drug efficacy and validation tests in infected mice and ferrets and conducted experiments to compare the efficacy of favipiravir with oseltamivir (Tamiflu). Based on its chemical structure, favipiravir should inhibit RNA synthesis, and our laboratory tried to isolate a resistant virus. Then, the lack of generation of resistant viruses was investigated.

Clinical trials of treatments for seasonal influenza have been performed in Japan and the US, and favipiravir was approved as a treatment for novel or re-emerging influenza viruses in Japan in 2014. However, favipiravir (Avigan®) is only considered for administration to patients when the government judges that this drug will be used as a countermeasure for novel or re-emerging influenza viruses. In addition, favipiravir is contraindicated for use in pregnant women because it exerts teratogenic and embryotoxic effects on animals. The Taiwanese CDC decided to stockpile favipiravir for people who became infected with new strains of influenza, including avian and swine influenzas, in 2015. The Japanese government decided to stockpile favipiravir (Avigan®) as a novel influenza countermeasure for 2 million people in 2017. Recent clinical trials have been performed to assess its efficacy in treating SFTS in Japan (Yasukawa, 2016) and as a combination therapy with oseltamivir to treat patients with severe influenza in China (Cao, 2018; Wang et al., 2019). In addition to influenza, favipiravir has been submitted for additional indications for SFTS in Japan, based on clinical trials, indicating its outstanding feature as a broad spectrum anti-RNA virus drug.

2.2. Chemical structure of the anti-influenza drug favipiravir and its broad anti-RNA virus activity

A compound that first showed anti-influenza activity was obtained in the screen of antiviral drugs targeting influenza, and favipiravir was optimized in terms of activity and stability in animals. Dr. Shiraki, K. suggested that the chemical structures of the active compound and its derivatives, including favipiravir, resembled a nucleoside analogue, and the presumed mechanism of action was to inhibit RNA synthesis (Fig. 1). Three compounds, 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1- β -Dribofuranoside (AICAR), which was biosynthesized de novo from amino acids, ribosyl-favipiravir, and ribavirin, have similar chemical structures, suggesting that favipiravir functions as a purine homologue and inhibits viral RNA synthesis. Therefore, Dr. Shiraki, K. suggested the synthesis of the ribosyl form of favipiravir for its better efficacy, but the ribosylation of favipiravir did not improve its antiviral activity. Addition of $10 \times 50\%$ effective concentration for plaque reduction $(EC_{50} = 63.7 \,\mu\text{M})$ of adenine, guanine, adenosine, guanosine, and inosine in the assay medium abolishes the anti-influenza virus activity of favipiravir (Furuta et al., 2005). Based on these findings, favipiravir is mainly incorporated in the salvage pathways for purine nucleotides through the purine phosphoribosyltransferases (Craig 3rd & Eakin, 2000) and is further phosphorylated to favipiravir-triphosphate as the substrate for viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp). The phosphorylation of favipiravir by hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyltransferase was confirmed in a subsequent study (Naesens et al., 2013). Favipiravir showed anti-influenza virus activity toward all subtypes of seasonal influenza virus strains, including types A, B and C of laboratory strains and clinical isolates, as well as an oseltamivir-resistant virus, with an EC_{50} ranging from 0.014 to 0.55 µg/mL (Furuta et al., 2002). Although the effectiveness against influenza viruses at the cell culture level was confirmed, the use of favipiravir as an anti-influenza drug was confirmed by analyzing its efficacy in animal models of influenza infection, as described below, which led to drug development.

Favipiravir was effective against other RNA viruses, poliovirus, rhinovirus, and respiratory syncytial virus but not effective against DNA viruses, herpes simplex virus-1, cytomegalovirus, and adenovirus (Furuta et al., 2002). Based on the antiviral activity toward four RNA viruses, we expected that favipiravir should be active against a broad range of RNA viruses. Favipiravir has been evaluated and developed as a broad spectrum anti-RNA virus drug, including lethal RNA virus infections. The anti-RNA virus activity of favipiravir was analyzed at the cellular level, and efficacy studies were performed in animal models of human lethal RNA virus infections, as shown in Table 1. Patients with an Ebola virus infection in West Africa in 2014 and patients with other RNA virus infections have been treated with favipiravir (Avigan®) based on the efficacy in human lethal RNA virus infections, clinical experience, efficacy in patients with seasonal influenza, and its licensure for human use.

2.3. Influenza infection model

We have identified two antipyretic steps in influenza infections, as shown in Fig. 2. Influenza infection and its replication in the epithelium of the upper respiratory tract induce the production of interferon (IFN) and cytokines that induce cyclooxygenase expression and prostaglandin E₂ production and cause fever. The effects of interferon and interleukin (IL)-1 α were determined by neutralizing their actions through the intravenous injection of their respective antibodies in influenzainfected mice (Kurokawa, Imakita, Kumeda, & Shiraki, 1996; Kurokawa, Watanabe, Shimizu, Sawamura, & Shiraki, 2010). The effects of aspirin, NSAIDs, and cinnamyl compounds derived from herbal extracts on influenza-infected mice or mouse macrophage-derived P388D1 cells were determined, and 48 cinnamyl compounds showed compound-specific responses to fever and increased IL-1 levels in influenza-infected mice. Cinnamyl compounds regulate cytokine levels by modulating the amount of NF-KB (Kurokawa et al., 1998; Kurokawa, Brown, Kagawa, & Shiraki, 2003). Cinnamyl compounds and clarithromycin increase the levels of IL-12 on day 2 and IFN- γ on day 3 in the bronchoalveolar fluids of mice and decrease the area of pneumonia throughout the lungs. The role of IL-12 on day 2 was confirmed through its direct nasal application, and nasal administration of IL-12 reduced the virus yield in the bronchoalveolar fluids from influenza-infected mice (Hama et al., 2009; Kurokawa, Tsurita, Brown, Fukuda, & Shiraki, 2002; Tsurita et al., 2001). Cinnamyl compounds that are mainly derived from medicinal herbs prevent the induction of fever in influenza-infected mice by decreasing the serum IL-1 level. In contrast, aspirin suppresses fever by inhibiting hypothalamic cyclooxygenase activity and prostaglandin E2 production without affecting the high level of IL-1 (Kurokawa, Imakita, Kumeda, & Shiraki, 1996; Kurokawa, Imakita, Kumeda, Yukawa, & Shiraki, 1996; Kurokawa, Kumeda, Yamamura, Kamiyama, & Shiraki, 1998). We have determined two steps of antipyretic action by cinnamyl compounds and NSAIDs in the fever cascade in influenza infection.

Studies of the efficacy of favipiravir on influenza in animals have been performed in our biosafety level 3 laboratory, and sterile and pyrogen-free distilled water for injections was used for drinking to ensure traceability. As we have experience in conducting a pharmacological study for a famciclovir approval application in Japan, the efficacy and validation studies of favipiravir were conducted in mice and ferrets using the influenza infection system described above in our laboratory.

2.4. Efficacy of favipiravir in influenza-infected animals

Since our laboratory had established an influenza infection model to investigate the cytokine cascade that induces fever in influenza virusinfected animals, we performed a virological analysis by examining the effects of crude drugs on the pathogenesis and cytokine levels, as well as the antiviral activity (Kurokawa et al., 2002; Kurokawa, Kumeda, Yamamura, Kamiyama, & Shiraki, 1998; Tsurita et al., 2001). Our animal model for influenza was used to study the efficacy of favipiravir in the influenza-infected animals.

As favipiravir was effective in cell culture, its effectiveness in animals infected with influenza virus must be confirmed. We first observed the prevention of a lethal influenza infection. Oral administration of favipiravir was significantly effective in alleviating influenza infection

Table 1

Therapeutic activity of favipiravir in human RNA virus infections or in animal models of human RNA virus infections. (Abdelnabi et al., 2018; Arias et al., 2014; Bixler et al., 2018; Caroline et al., 2014; Escribano-Romero et al., 1994; Gowen et al., 2013; Gowen, Westover, Miao, et al., 2017; Gowen, Westover, Sefing, et al., 2017; Gowen et al., 2007; Gowen et al., 2010; Hawman et al., 2018; Jochmans et al., 2016; Julander, Shafer et al., 2009; Julander, Smee et al., 2009; Mendenhall et al., 2011; Morrey et al., 2008; Oestereich et al., 2016; Oestereich, Rieger, et al., 2014; Safronetz et al., 2013; Safronetz et al., 2015; Scharton et al., 2014; Tani et al., 2016; Westover et al., 2016; Yamada et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2018).

Efficacy shown in animal infection models and	Mortality (%)	References
human use		
Ebole view infection	50% ^a , 25 to 90% ^a	(Bai, et al., 2016; Bixler, et al., 2018; Jacobs, et al., 2015; Oestereich, Ludtke,
Ebola virus infection		et al., 2014; Sissoko, et al., 2016; Smither, et al., 2014)
Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome	12–30% ^b	(Gowen, Westover, Miao, et al., 2017a; Tani, et al., 2016; <u>Yasukawa, 2016</u>)
(SFTS) caused by a virus infection		
Severe influenza		(<u>Cao, 2018; Wang et al., 2019</u>)
Losso vinus infection	1% ^a , severe cases 15%	(Gowen, Westover, Sefing, et al., 2017b; Mendenhall, et al., 2011;
Lassa virus infection	a	Oestereich, et al., 2016; Raabe, et al., 2017; Safronetz, et al., 2015)
Rabies	Approximately 100% ^{a,} ^b	(Baker, 2017; Yamada, Noguchi, Komeno, Furuta, & Nishizono, 2015)
Norovirus infection	50,000 deaths/year ^b	(Arias, Thorne, & Goodfellow, 2014; Ruis, et al., 2018)
Avian influenza A(H5N1)	52.8% (Sep 9, 2019) ^a	Favipiravir is effective against influenza in animals and humans and has been
	39.2% ^a	approved as an anti-influenza drug in Japan. Its indications are for novel
Avian influenza A(H7N9)		influenza strains. Favipiravir has not been used in human avian influenza
		cases.

Therapeutic efficacy of favipiravir in animal models of human RNA virus infections

Efficacy shown in animal infection models	Mortality (%)	References
Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever	3-30% ^a	(Hawman, et al., 2018; Oestereich, Rieger, et al., 2014)
Western equine encephalitis	3-4, 8-15% ^d	(Julander, Smee, Morrey, & Furuta, 2009b)
Marburg virus infection	50% $^{\rm a},$ 24% to 88% $^{\rm a}$	(Bixler, et al., 2018; Zhu, et al., 2018)
Argentine hemorrhagic fever virus infection	15 200/0	(Gowen, et al., 2013; Gowen, Westover, Sefing, et al., 2017b; Mendenhall,
	15-30%°	et al., 2011; Westover, et al., 2016)
Rift Valley fever virus infection	1% ^a , hemorrhagic	(Caroline, et al., 2014; Gowen, et al., 2007; Scharton, et al., 2014)
	form 50% a	
Yellow fever virus infection	7 to 65.2% ^c	(Gowen, et al., 2010; Julander, Shafer, Smee, Morrey, & Furuta, 2009a)
	30,000 deaths/year ^c	
Hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome	5-15% ^b	(Safronetz, et al., 2013)
Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome	18.6% to 40% ^a , 38% ^b	
Chikungunya virus infection	0.012 to $4.9\%^{\rm f}$	(Abdelnabi, Jochmans, Verbeken, Neyts, & Delang, 2018)
	100/5	(Morrey, et al., 2008; Escribano-Romero, Jimenez de Oya, Domingo, & Saiz,
vest Nile lever	13%5	2017)
Metapneumovirus		(Jochmans, et al., 2016)

References where favipiravir has been used in humans are underlined.

The mortality rate is derived from ^athe World Health Organization (WHO), ^bCDC, ^cPan American Health Organization (PAHO) & WHO, ^dWestern equine encephalitis (Spickler, 2017), ^eArgentine hemorrhagic fever virus infection (Enria & Maiztegui, 1994), ^fChikungunya (Cardona-Ospina, Henao-SanMartin, Paniz-Mondolfi, & Rodriguez-Morales, 2015; Renault, Josseran, & Pierre, 2008), and [®]West Nile fever (Philpott et al., 2019).

in mice (Furuta et al., 2002), and its efficacy was characterized under various conditions. We are convinced that favipiravir will be developed as an influenza drug for humans after the confirmation of its therapeutic activity in two species of animals, mice and ferrets, infected with influenza virus.

Fig. 3 shows one of the comparisons of efficacy between favipiravir and oseltamivir in the influenza virus infection model established with a high titer of virus in a series of experiments, and the better efficacy of favipiravir compared with oseltamivir was observed in an animal with a severe lethal influenza infection with a high viral load (Takahashi et al., 2003). Favipiravir and oseltamivir show similar efficacy in lowdose infections, but the efficacy of favipiravir as an influenza drug is clearly increased compared with oseltamivir in high-titer virus infections (Fig. 3). Mice in the control group die on day 3 after a high-dose infection, and an oseltamivir treatment prolongs the survival period for three days but does not prevent death. The favipiravir treatment cures lethal infection, and all mice survive. Favipiravir exhibits better efficacy than oseltamivir after a delayed administration beginning 1, 24, 48, or 72 h after infection with seasonal influenza A(H1N1) (Takahashi et al., 2003).

Mice infected with a low titer represent nonlethal infection models and are considered to correspond to human seasonal infection models. In this model, oseltamivir and favipiravir are equally effective and do not differ in efficacy despite the difference in their mechanisms of action. A high-titer infection represents a lethal infection model and is considered to correspond to a novel influenza infection in humans. Although oseltamivir is ineffective in this model, favipiravir effectively improves survival in all cases, indicating the importance of administering a drug with a mechanism of action that reduces viral load.



Fig. 2. Cascade of fever induction by influenza and antipyretic action of cinnamyl compounds and NSAIDs. Influenza infection induces interferon (IFN) production that subsequently induces interleukin (IL)-1 production to act on the hypothalamus. Next, cyclooxygenase is expressed to induce prostaglandin (PG)E₂ production and generate fever. Cinnamyl compounds from medicinal herbs, anti-IFN antibody, anti-IL-1 antibody, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (aspirin) act at each step of this process. Cinnamyl compounds and NSAIDs inhibit the induction of IFN and cyclooxygenase activity, respectively, in the fever cascade to work as antipyretics in influenza. Regarding pneumonia, IL-12 and IFN- γ production are induced in the bronchoalveolar fluid (BALF) on the second and third day of infection, respectively, and an increase in IL-12 levels reduces the viral load in the BALF and the area of pneumonia throughout the lungs.

TNF- α production is induced through recognition of the singlestrand RNA or double-strand RNA of the influenza virus genome by Toll-like receptor-7/8 (Yang & Chen, 2012) or 3 (Diebold et al., 2003; Guillot et al., 2005; Poux et al., 2019; Wong et al., 2009), respectively, in infected cells. Influenza infection induces TNF- α production in mouse macrophage-derived P388D1 cells, and the suppressive effects of favipiravir and oseltamivir were compared in this P388D1 cellbased system. Favipiravir significantly suppresses the production of TNF- α in influenza virus-infected P388D1 cells compared with the active form of oseltamivir (Tanaka et al., 2017). TNF- α appears first and disappears first in P338D1 cells among TNF- α . IL-1, and IL-6 (Kurokawa et al., 2003), and we observed a significant reduction in the levels of TNF- α in P388D1 cells and influenza-infected mice treated with favipiravir. The antiviral activity of favipiravir has been attributed to a decrease in the pulmonary viral load and TNF- α level in the airways of influenza virus-infected mice compared with oseltamivir, and the reduction in the viral RNA load induced by favipiravir might have resulted in a reduction in TNF- α production and alleviation of lung pathogenesis (Damjanovic et al., 2011; Tanaka et al., 2017). Based on these findings, the intracellular viral RNA is less recognized by intracellular Toll-like receptors and results in a decrease in the production of the inflammatory cytokine TNF- α . This mechanism may also contribute to the enhanced effects of favipiravir treatment on alleviating influenza infection compared with oseltamivir treatment.

Favipiravir displays superior properties to oseltamivir in mouse models, and we confirmed its efficacy in influenza-infected mice and ferrets. The confirmation of the efficacy of this drug in two species of animals convinced us of the efficacy in humans and its possible use as the standard treatment of choice for influenza in the future.

3. Mechanisms of action of current anti-influenza drugs and their resistant viruses

3.1. Mechanisms of action of current anti-influenza drugs

Fig. 4 shows the influenza virus growth cycle and the sites of action of anti-influenza drugs. The viral hemagglutinin binds to sialic acid on the cell surface, and the viral particle is incorporated into the endosome. When the endosome is acidified and the pH decreases to a value of 5, which is characteristic of the late endosome, the structure of the hemagglutinin changes through a process mediated by the Matrix-2 (M2) ion channel. Then, the endosomal membrane and the viral envelope fuse, and the viral genome in the viral particle is released into the cytoplasm (uncoating). The viral genome and RdRp complex are transported to the nucleus where the transcription (replication) of viral RNA synthesis begins. The synthesized RNA does not contain the Cap structure required for mRNA, and the Cap structure from the host mRNA is excised and transferred to the viral RNA by the Cap-dependent endonuclease of viral RdRp complex, resulting in the formation of the viral mRNA (Cap-snatching). After the viral mRNA is produced, the viral protein is translated. The viral proteins and RdRp-RNA complex form viral particles that subsequently bud from the cell membrane. Hemagglutinin on viral particles budded from the cell surface binds to the sialic acid on the surface of the infected cell, and the viral particles are released from the infected cell through the cleavage of sialic acid by viral neuraminidase (NA) for the next round of infection.

Amantadine inhibits the uncoating of influenza A in late endosomes, and viral RNA does not replicate in the infected cells. Amantadine inhibits only influenza A and not B. However, influenza A virus becomes



Fig. 3. Comparison of the efficacy of favipiravir and oseltamivir in lethal influenza virus infection. Mice were infected with 3×10^4 plaque forming units of influenza A/PR/8/34 virus and were orally administered favipiravir and oseltamivir at doses of 200 and 400 mg/kg/day for 5 days beginning at 1 h post-infection (n = 14). The results presented in this figure were obtained from a representative experiment. *P < .01 compared to 0.5% methylcellulose solution-treated controls and oseltamivir-treated groups (log-rank test). The authors obtained permission from the Antiviral Chemistry and Chemotherapy to reuse this figure (Takahashi et al., 2003).

resistant, even in an epidemic occurring in a closed facility, and the current influenza A viruses are not susceptible to amantadine.

Favipiravir inhibits viral RNA synthesis, and therefore viral RNA is not produced in the infected cells.

The NA inhibitors (NAIs) zanamivir, oseltamivir, peramivir, and laminamivir inhibit the NA activity of viral particles on the surface of the infected cell and the release of viral particles from the cell surface to other cells for the next round of infection. NAIs result in the accumulation of viral particles on the cell surface and inhibit the spread of virus infection. NAIs are currently the main choice of anti-influenza drugs.

Baloxavir marboxil (baloxavir, Xofluza®) is a selective inhibitor of influenza Cap-dependent endonuclease of the viral RdRp complex. Baloxavir inhibits mRNA synthesis and subsequent viral protein synthesis, but genomic RNA without the Cap structure is synthesized by the incorporated RdRp-viral RNA complex in the presence of baloxavir.

3.2. A reservoir of resistant virus is generated in influenza virus-infected cells treated with anti-influenza drugs other than favipiravir

Favipiravir inhibits viral RNA synthesis as a chain terminator. This inhibition of genomic RNA synthesis is the most important difference from other anti-influenza drugs, which substantially forms the pool of genomic RNA containing drug-resistant mutants synthesized by viral RdRp with low fidelity from the RdRp-viral RNA complex. The antiinfluenza drugs NAIs and baloxavir inhibit the spread of infection but allow the synthesis of genomic RNA, and the genomic RNA pool is important from the perspective of the generation of resistant viruses as a source of drug-resistant viruses.

The spontaneous mutation rate of the influenza virus RdRp complex is approximately 1×10^4 . Titers of influenza virus in culture reach approximately 10^8 plaque forming units/mL in 5 mL in a 25 cm² flask, and their genomes contain approximately 13,600 bases, indicating a probability of 10^4 alterations per nucleotide in the genome. Therefore, all types of mutated genomes should be synthesized and present as genomic RNA, even in cells treated with anti-influenza drugs.

There is a high probability that the resistant virus is already present in the virus that grew rapidly and in large quantities before the start of treatment. In addition, the viral RNA formed in the cells in patients treated with anti-influenza drugs serves as a source of drug-resistant viruses. Subsequently, drug-resistant influenza viruses should appear more readily from the mutant genomic RNA pool during drug treatment.



•: Viral RNA polymerase (RdRp) • · · · Viral RNA and RdRp complex ∇: Sialic acid (viral receptor) • · · Cap portion of mRNA

Fig. 4. Replication cycle of influenza and sites of action of anti-influenza drugs. Influenza virus hemagglutinin (HA) binds to its receptor, sialic acid on the cell surface and is taken up into endosomes by endocytosis. Endosomes are gradually acidified to produce late endosomes, viral matrix-2 (M2) ion channels acidify viral particles, and the structure of trimeric HA molecules changes and shows membrane fusion activity. The endosomal membrane and envelope are then fused, and the genomic RNA and RdRp complex in the virus particle are released into the cytoplasm (uncoating) and transported to the nucleus through the cytoplasm. The transcription (replication) of genomic RNA by the RdRp complex occurs in the nucleus, and the genomic RNA is abundantly produced. Genomic RNA lacks the Cap structure required for mRNA function, and the Cap portion of the host mRNA is removed by a Cap-dependent endonuclease. Then, the Cap portion is coupled to genomic RNA, and viral mRNA synthesis is complete (Cap-snatching). Viral proteins are synthesized from the mRNA, and viral mRNA synthesis is complete (Sance via the HA protein of virus particles, it is unable to leave the infected cell and infect new cells. For this reason, the sialic acid-HA bond is cleaved by neuraminidase (NA) on the surface of the virus particle, and the virus particle is released from the surface of the infected cell and proceeds to the next round of infection. Amantadine blocks uncoating by inhibiting acidification mediated by the M2 protein in the virus particle in late endosome, and thus the infection is unable to be completed. Favipiravir inhibits viral mRNA is not produced, resulting in a failure to produce viral proteins and infectious viruses. Genomic RNA is synthesized and remains in the cell. NA inhibitors block the cleavage of the sialic acid-HA bond in fectious virus es of the virus particle and no new RNA is generated in the cell. Baloxavir marboxil prevents Cap-snatching, and the viral mRNA synthesis, by terminating chain elongation at its in

4. Seasonal influenza and pandemic influenza

4.1. Seasonal influenza

The replication cycle of influenza viruses is approximately 6 h from entry to the production of new virus, and robust growth begins after infection at a rate of four replication cycles per day. The course of influenza virus infection was analyzed in 56 different studies with 1280 healthy participants after an experimental influenza virus infection (Carrat et al., 2008). The A(H1N1) and A(H3N2) infections resulted in a substantial increase in viral shedding on the first day after experimental influenza virus infection, and they reached their maximum values on the second day. Fever was reported in 34.9% of infected individuals. Systemic symptoms (fever, muscle aches, fatigue, and headache) peaked earlier, by day 2 after inoculation, and resolved faster than respiratory or nasal symptoms. The presence of a preexisting antibody modified the mean duration of illness of 4.4 days in participants with prehemagglutinin inhibition titers of ≤1/8 compared with 1.0 day in participants with pre-hemagglutinin inhibition titers of >1/8 after the inoculation of a wild-type A(H1N1) virus (Doyle et al., 1994). Influenza causes dry cough (90%), fever (83.8%), and headache (82.5%), and immunocompromised patients exhibit a significantly longer length of illness with delayed virus clearance (Memoli et al., 2014). The mean durations of viral shedding in immunocompromised and nonimmunocompromised patients are 19.4 and 6.38 days with median values of 8.0 and 5.0 days, respectively, indicating that viral replication persists for a week after the disappearance of major symptoms. Preexisting immunity and immunocompetence are important in modifying the severity of symptoms of influenza.

4.2. Difference in influenza pathogenesis between seasonal and novel influenza

Seasonal influenza strains that are adapted to humans include A (H1N1), A(H3N2), and B influenza and cause seasonal epidemics of influenza among humans every year. Seasonal influenza viruses mainly infect the epithelium of the upper respiratory tract because their hemagglutinins bind to their receptor, sialic acid linked to galactose by an alpha-2,6 linkage that is distributed in the upper respiratory tract. Although these strains cause epidemics every year, the susceptibility and severity of illness are modified by the degree of immunity of the host as described above.

Novel influenza is derived from avian influenza A and is a source of concern as a cause of an influenza pandemic. Avian influenza is divided into highly pathogenic avian influenza and low-pathogenic avian influenza based on the molecular characteristics of the virus and their abilities to cause disease and mortality in chickens. Both low-pathogenic avian influenza and highly pathogenic avian influenza viruses have caused severe and lethal infections in humans (CDC, 2017).

Since the novel influenza strain is transmitted in the original host bird, the avian receptor is sialic acid linked to galactose by an alpha-2,3 linkage, and this receptor is distributed in respiratory bronchioles and alveolar epithelial cells in humans (Shinya et al., 2006). Although the name of the influenza virus is common to both seasonal influenza and novel influenza, a new subtype of influenza causes severe influenza in humans because it is a completely new subtype of virus, and humans have neither a history of infection nor immunity. Seasonal influenza mainly infects the upper respiratory tract, while novel influenza causes pneumonia, mainly due to an infection of the pulmonary epithelium. Furthermore, unlike the presence of a certain level of immunity to seasonal influenza, immunity does not exist for novel influenza. Therefore, the severity of the infection appears to be caused by a prolonged virus growth period and the affinity for the pulmonary epithelium (Shinya et al., 2006). As described above, novel influenza causes severe diseases, particularly pneumonia, compared to seasonal influenza, and the mortality rate is 53.5% (483/903) for A(H5N1) (Lai et al., 2016) and 34% (47/137) for A(H7N9) (Li et al., 2014).

4.3. Oseltamivir-resistant influenza in seasonal influenza

Oseltamivir, an NAI, has been the treatment of choice for influenza infection. The emergence of a resistant virus (after day 1) was detected in 43/1207 (3.56%) oseltamivir-treated influenza A-infected patients, with a higher frequency observed in 1- to 5-year-olds (11.8%) than in children aged >5 years (1.4%), and viral clearance occurred in 8-10 days (Lina et al., 2018). The overall incidence of an oseltamivir-resistant virus was 10 of 182 (5.5%) (Whitley et al., 2001) and 9 of 50 (18%) (Kiso et al., 2004) oseltamivir-treated children. Oseltamivir-resistant influenza appears and becomes dominant during treatment.

Another concern is the prevalence of oseltamivir-resistant strains that was observed during the 2008 to 2009 season. Oseltamivir-resistant seasonal A(H1N1) viruses possessing an NA H275Y substitution spread globally, 12.3% (142/1155) in the US (Dharan et al., 2009), 64% in South Africa, Oceania and SE Asia (Hurt et al., 2009), and 20.1% in Europe. In particular, a prevalence of 67% (184/272) was observed in Norway, with a gradual increase observed in Europe from approximately 0% in week 19 to 56% in week 40 (Meijer et al., 2009). Thus, once the oseltamivir-resistant virus has adapted to humans, it will become or replace an epidemic virus worldwide.

Single-dose baloxavir is superior to the placebo in alleviating influenza symptoms and to both oseltamivir and placebo in reducing the viral load 1 day after initiation in patients with uncomplicated influenza (Hayden et al., 2018). The emergence of baloxavir-resistant mutants with PA/I38X substitutions occurred in 2.2% and 9.7% of baloxavir recipients in the phase 2 and phase 3 trials, respectively. Patients with a substitution at position I38 in the viral polymerase acidic protein (PA/I38X) of the baloxavir-resistant virus exhibited sustained alleviation and virus clearance, and baloxavir-resistant viruses were not cross-resistant to favipiravir and oseltamivir (Omoto et al., 2018). Baloxavir-resistant viruses were identified after 3-9 days in 9.7% (36/370) of baloxavirtreated immunocompetent adults and adolescents (Uehara et al., 2020). Baloxavir-resistant viruses emerged in 18 of 77 (23.4%) patients. Emergence was associated with a prolonged detection of the infectious virus (median time, 180.0 h) and time to illness (median, 79.6 vs 42.8 h in patients without PA/I38T/M-substituted viruses) (Hirotsu et al., 2019). Baloxavir-resistant influenza viruses cause new human-tohuman infections and have the ability to spread infections (Takashita et al 2019)

Oseltamivir- and baloxavir-resistant mutants emerge and become dominant viruses during their treatment, and the resistant viruses are transmitted to other hosts. Thus, these resistant viruses may become dominant pandemic viruses. In contrast, favipiravir treatment does not change the susceptibility of 57 pairs of viruses to favipiravir before and after treatment (Takashita et al., 2016). Although the number of cases is limited, 57 pairs might be sufficient to detect a virus resistant to the current anti-influenza drug, suggesting that favipiravir-resistant mutants will not appear. Favipiravir alone may maintain its efficacy from the beginning to the end of an influenza pandemic without replacement by resistant strains for which the effectiveness of drugs is reduced during treatment or during the pandemic.

4.4. Effectiveness of favipiravir among anti-influenza virus drugs used to treat pandemics of novel influenza

An influenza pandemic is a global outbreak of a novel influenza A virus. Pandemics occur when novel influenza A viruses emerge that are able to infect people easily and spread from person to person in an efficient and sustained manner. Two decades have elapsed since an

avian influenza case was reported in Hong Kong in 1997, and a decade has elapsed since the most recent influenza pandemic that occurred in 2009. Sporadic cases of A(H5N1) and A(H7N9) influenza infections have been accumulating, and we must prepare for these strains or other novel influenza strains that might progress to an influenza pandemic and spread globally, such as A(H1N1)pdm09. Influenza pandemics can cause severe pneumonia, generate a drug-resistant virus, and render antiviral drugs ineffective during prolonged viral growth in patients treated with oseltamivir or baloxavir. Although drug-resistant viruses may have a reduced ability to grow, the use of drugs in many patients continues the selection pressure to ensure that resistant viruses become dominant. Drug selection continues, and the resistant strain becomes dominant during pandemics because drug-resistant strains are selected in many patients treated with the same anti-influenza drug. Regarding a resistant virus with good replication capability, oseltamivir-resistant A(H1N1) viruses possessing the NA H275Y substitution spread globally during the 2008 to 2009 season. Thus, we have experience with a global pandemic of an oseltamivir-resistant strain. Favipiravir maintains the same efficacy from the first to the last patient of a pandemic because its resistant strain does not appear or does not replace the original strain.

Favipiravir is significantly more effective in treating mice with severe influenza infections characterized by a high viral load than oseltamivir (Takahashi et al., 2003), and a favipiravir-resistant virus does not emerge during treatment. This outstanding feature of favipiravir as an anti-influenza drug has been exploited in treating patients with severe influenza in combination with oseltamivir in China (Cao, 2018; Wang et al., 2019). Favipiravir and oseltamivir combination therapy accelerated clinical recovery compared to oseltamivir monotherapy in severe influenza. The dose of favipiravir used in the study mentioned above was 1600 mg twice a day on day 1 followed by 600 mg twice a day for 9 days, and the approved favipiravir dose in Japan is 1600 mg twice a day on day 1 followed by 600 mg twice a day for 4 days. The viral replication period is 6 days or longer for seasonal influenza (Lina et al., 2018; Memoli et al., 2014). When drug administration is stopped during the virus replication period or when resistant strains appear, virus replication and fever relapse. Thus, 10 days of administration may be required for severe influenza or novel influenza.

4.5. Pandemics of the 20th century

According to the WHO (EuroWHO, 2019), "Three influenza pandemics occurred at intervals of several decades during the 20th century, the most severe of which was the so-called 'Spanish Flu' (caused by an A (H1N1) virus), estimated to have caused 20-50 million deaths in 1918–1919. Milder pandemics occurred subsequently in 1957–1958 (the 'Asian Flu' caused by an A(H2N2) virus) and in 1968 (the 'Hong Kong Flu' caused by an A(H3N2) virus), which were estimated to have caused 1-4 million deaths each. While most cases of pandemic H1N1 were mild, globally it is estimated that the 2009 pandemic caused between 100,000-400,000 deaths in the first year alone." Elderly individuals had immunity to pandemic A(H1N1)pdm09, and although people developed a milder form of influenza, it spread quickly throughout the world. Once an avian influenza outbreak occurs, more people are infected than in the pandemic of 2009, with similar or faster global spread. Predictions of whether the next pandemic will occur are difficult to determine, but researchers are currently concerned about the A(H5N1) and A(H7N9) strains with high lethality. When these strains adapt to humans and become pandemic, their pathogenicity may be milder, similar to previous pandemics. If an influenza pandemic causes severe disease, it may cause substantial damage to human health and social dysfunction. The need for pandemic countermeasures is an important consideration.

5. A broad spectrum of anti-RNA virus drugs: efficacy in animal models and human infection

5.1. The broad spectrum of the anti-RNA virus activity of favipiravir

Favipiravir has a broad spectrum of activity toward RNA viruses, including life-threatening RNA viruses, and exhibits efficacy in animal models of these infections. Table 1 summarizes the efficacy of favipiravir in animal models of human infections. Based on the efficacy in animal models, it has been used to treat humans with diseases such as Ebola virus infection (Bai et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2015; Sissoko et al., 2016), Lassa fever (Raabe et al., 2017), norovirus (Ruis et al., 2018), and rabies (Baker, 2017). Notably, as a broad spectrum anti-RNA virus drug, favipiravir has been submitted for additional indications for SFTS in Japan, based on clinical trials (Yasukawa, 2016).

The broad spectrum of activity of favipiravir toward RNA viruses has been reviewed, including anti-RNA virus activity in vitro and in vivo in animal models (Delang, Abdelnabi, & Neyts, 2018; Furuta et al., 2009; Furuta et al., 2013; Furuta, Komeno, & Nakamura, 2017).

5.2. Ebola virus infection

Concerning Ebola virus infection, the efficacy of favipiravir in postexposure prophylaxis (PEP) was shown in a mouse model (Smither et al., 2014) and a therapeutic mouse model of Ebola virus disease (Oestereich, Ludtke, et al., 2014). Treatment with favipiravir from 6 to 13 days after lethal infection with Ebola virus cured all mice when the treatment was started at the initiation of liver damage (elevation of AST and ALT) and virus detection in blood. However, the administration of favipiravir from 8 to 14 days prolonged survival, but four of five mice died when the liver damage and viremia advanced. Early treatment with favipiravir was effective, but when the disease is advanced, including liver damage, the efficacy in prolonging survival is limited to one of five mice, indicating that treatment should be started before liver damage progresses to irreversible levels. Thus, favipiravir may be able to cure an Ebola virus infection in the early phase of infection, but the curative activity of favipiravir may be limited in patients with an advanced infection.

The dose of favipiravir used to treat a human with an Ebola virus infection is 6000 mg on the first day and 2400 mg/day on days 1–9 for a total of 27,600 mg when administered for both PEP and treatment. Four of eight health-care workers, including two with maximum risk exposures from penetrating injuries with freshly used hollow-bore needles, were administered PEP with favipiravir alone or favipiravir with other anti-Ebola agents and did not develop Ebola virus disease (Jacobs et al., 2015). Although the needle stick had not been confirmed to result in infection, the probability of infection was high based on previous observations, and PEP was considered effective, as observed in PEP using a mouse model (Smither et al., 2014).

An Ebola study conducted in Guinea included 126 patients, and 111 were analyzed and compared with 540 patients as a historical control group. Favipiravir treatment reduced the mortality rate in the low viral load group to 33% compared with the historical control group that was not treated with favipiravir, but this reduction in the mortality rate was not statistically significant (Sissoko et al., 2016). An Ebola study conducted in Sierra Leone included 39 favipiravir-treated patients and 85 historical control patients. The overall survival rate in the favipiravir treatment group was higher than the control group (56.4% [22/39] vs 35.3% [30/85]; *P* = .027). (Bai et al., 2016). During the 2014 epidemic of Ebola virus infection in West Africa, patients who were treated without favipiravir in the period before preparation for favipiravir treatment were classified as historical controls, and the therapeutic efficacy of favipiravir was compared between the patient group treated with favipiravir and the historical patient group in the two clinical trials described above. Randomized placebo-controlled trials are desirable for confirming therapeutic effects in clinical trials, but the placebo group

has an ethical problem of not being able to receive an effective drug that can recover fatal infections in animal models. The studies were conducted to compare the effectiveness of favipiravir treatment between patients who were not treated in the period prior to the start of drug administration as the historical control patient group and those who were treated with favipiravir after the clinical study was ready.

5.3. Effectiveness of favipiravir in other human RNA infections

The number of patients is limited, and favipiravir has been used as an emergency or compassionate treatment for Lassa fever, norovirus, and rabies cases. This review focuses on human administration in terms of the broad spectrum of RNA virus activity. Therefore, favipiravir has been positioned as a valuable anti-influenza drug and a broad spectrum anti-RNA drug, as listed in Table 1. Favipiravir has been used in human therapy for Ebola hemorrhagic fever (Bai et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2015; Sissoko et al., 2016), Lassa fever (Raabe et al., 2017), norovirus (Ruis et al., 2018), rabies (Baker, 2017), and SFTS (Yasukawa, 2016). Some treatments were used in emergencies, and some were used in the setting of a clinical trial. In addition, combination therapy of favipiravir with the other existing therapies is also an option and favipiravir and oseltamivir combination therapy showed accelerated clinical recovery compared to oseltamivir monotherapy in severe influenza in China (Cao, 2018; Wang et al., 2019).

5.4. The dose of favipiravir for influenza and Ebola virus infection

The antiviral activity (EC_{50}) of favipiravir against influenza and Ebola viruses is different from the range of 0.014–0.55 µg/mL in medium without adenosine and guanosine and 10 µg/mL, respectively (Furuta et al., 2002; Oestereich et al., 2014). Addition of 10 x EC₅₀ (63.7 µM) of adenine, guanine, adenosine, guanosine, and inosine in the assay medium abolishes the anti-influenza virus activity of favipiravir (Furuta et al., 2005). The intracellular concentration of ATP is 1–9 mM in various tissues (Beis & Newsholme, 1975), suggesting favipiravir may need a higher concentration in vivo. Pharmacokinetic values of favipiravir for the maximum drug concentration (Cmax), the area under the curve (*AUC*), the maximum drug concentration time (*T*max), and the half-life period (*t*1/2) are 65 µg/mL, 450–550 µg · hr/mL, 1 h, and 4.8–5.6 h, respectively (Avigan Tablets 200 mg package insert).

The approved favipiravir dose for influenza in Japan is 1600 mg twice a day on day 1 followed by 600 mg twice a day for 4 days, and the dose for Ebloa virus infection is 6000 mg on the first day and 2400 mg/day on days 1–9. The antiviral concentration of favipiravir in influenza is achieved in the lung epithelium by diffusion from the blood, and in the case of Ebola virus infection, direct perfusion of blood reaches target tissues, vascular endothelial cells, hematopoietic cells, and hepatocytes. Differences in the two factors between antiviral concentrations and target cells do not appear to be significantly reflected in dosage. Intravenous preparations are being prepared to improve oral administration of favipiravir.

6. Mechanism of action of favipiravir as a chain terminator

6.1. Inhibition of elongation of RNA synthesis as a chain terminator

Favipiravir inhibits viral RdRp by terminating elongation at the incorporation site as a chain terminator (Jin, Smith, Rajwanshi, Kim, & Deval, 2013; Sangawa et al., 2013). Favipiravir functions as a purine analogue, as expected from the chemical structure, and it is incorporated instead of guanosine and adenosine. Favipiravir terminates elongation after the incorporation of a single favipiravir molecule (Sangawa et al., 2013) and after the incorporation of two consecutive favipiravir molecules (Jin et al., 2013), and the synthesis of this complementary viral RNA strand cannot be completed. In contrast, the anti-RNA virus drug ribavirin is incorporated into the replicating strand, which further elongates and accumulates mismatched nucleotides at the incorporated sites. Base pairing with ribavirin in the complementary strand during replication, transcription, and translation of the RNA strand causes mismatched base pairing, the production of nonfunctional proteins, and a loss of viral infectivity. Accumulated mutations (mismatched nucleotides) cause the replicated viruses to lose their replicative capability, which is known as "lethal mutagenesis" (Vignuzzi, Stone, & Andino, 2005), as shown in Fig. 5. When the number of mutations is limited and infectious viruses with mutations in viral RdRp that affect ribavirin incorporation are produced, drug-resistant viruses can be selected in the presence of ribavirin.

6.2. Increased number of mutations in viral genomes in favipiravir-treated cultures

Favipiravir treatment increases the frequency of transition (Delang et al., 2014; Goldhill et al., 2019; Vanderlinden et al., 2016) and transversion (Baranovich et al., 2013) in viral genomes, and these mutations are hypothesized to be caused by favipiravir, resulting in lethal mutagenesis (Baranovich et al., 2013; Delang et al., 2014; Goldhill et al., 2019; Vanderlinden et al., 2016). We observed a transition of influenza virus and poliovirus in cultures treated with favipiravir but did not assess the frequency because we were unable to compare the transition rate with the proper antiviral agents with similar mechanisms as a control (Daikoku et al., 2017; Daikoku, Yoshida, Okuda, & Shiraki, 2014).

Ribavirin is known to cause lethal mutagenesis, as shown in Fig. 5. Ribavirin is incorporated into the elongating RNA strand, resulting in the production of multiple mismatches that lead to lethal mutagenesis (Vignuzzi et al., 2005). Favipiravir inhibits RNA synthesis through chain termination, and this inhibitory mechanism more consistently explains the observations reported than a mechanism similar to ribavirin, as described below.

Favipiravir-4-ribofuranosyl-5'-triphosphate (RTP) has a higher affinity for the RdRp of influenza virus than GTP and functions as a chain terminator (Jin et al., 2013; Sangawa et al., 2013). Favipiravir-RTP and ribavirin TP inhibit the RdRp activity in a dose-dependent manner, with 50% inhibitory concentrations (IC₅₀s) of 0.14 and 2.4 μ M, respectively (Furuta et al., 2005). The RdRp activity was determined by measuring the incorporation of labeled GTP in the elongating RNA strand. Favipiravir-RTP has a higher affinity for RdRp than GTP, and when incorporated, favipiravir-RTP stops the elongation of the RNA strand in which it is incorporated. This termination prevents the incorporation of radioactivity, and thus favipiravir-RTP exhibits high inhibitory activity and a low IC₅₀ (0.14 μ M). On the other hand, ribavirin induces competitive inhibition with GTP, and incorporation results in mismatch mutations; the strand continues to elongate and incorporate labeled GTP without stopping at the incorporation site. Thus, ribavirin has a high IC₅₀ value $(2.4 \,\mu\text{M})$ because its RNA strand is further elongated by incorporating radiolabeled GTP. Therefore, its ability to inhibit enzyme activity becomes weaker, and it displays a higher IC₅₀ value than favipiravir. Furthermore, a marked decrease in the amount of the viral genome has been observed in favipiravir-treated cultures compared with ribavirin-treated cultures (Vanderlinden et al., 2016). Favipiravir is incorporated into the viral genome and terminates elongation, resulting in shorter genome sizes and the marked loss of the viral genome in favipiravir-treated cultures (Rocha-Pereira et al., 2012; Vanderlinden et al., 2016). These observations are consistently explained by the chain termination induced by favipiravir.

6.3. Mutation due to chain termination and proofreading activity by acyclovir

Proofreading activity mediated by enzymes such as the 3'-5' exonuclease of herpesvirus DNA polymerase removes the terminal mismatched base and corrects the base pairing during the elongation

A. Chain termination by favipiravir



Fig. 5. Chain termination and lethal mutagenesis. A. Chain termination Favipiravir is converted to favipiravir-RTP and incorporated into the elongating RNA strand. Then, chain elongation stops at the site of favipiravir incorporation, and elongation does not proceed because favipiravir functions as a chain terminator. This RNA-favipiravir(-RdRp) complex will not be repaired by the proofreading enzyme and would be disposed of as unnecessary RNA, resulting in the extinction of the viral genome (Rocha-Pereira et al., 2012; Vanderlinden et al., 2016). B. Lethal mutagenesis Ribavirin is incorporated into the elongating RNA strand, and viral RdRp continues to elongate until completion. Next, the RNA strand with multiple ribavirin incorporation sites further incorporates ribavirin or serves as mRNA for viral protein synthesis. The incorporation of ribavirin in the viral RNA causes the mismatch of base pairs (transition mutation), and translation of this RNA causes mutations in the amino acid sequence of the protein, resulting in impaired function. Viral proteins with impaired function fail to replicate or produce infectious viral particles, and viral infection ceases. Thus, lethal mutagenesis terminates viral infection through a different mechanism than chain termination.

process. Viral RdRp lacks proofreading activity and is unable to complete the elongation step when favipiravir-RTP is incorporated as a chain terminator. Coronavirus has been reported to expresses a 3'-to-5'exoribonuclease and its proofreading function among RNA viruses (Smith, Blanc, Surdel, Vignuzzi, & Denison, 2013).

Acyclovir causes chain termination at the incorporated site during the elongation of herpes simplex virus and varicella-zoster virus DNA and prevents viral DNA synthesis. However, the incorporated acyclovir is removed by the proofreading activity of viral DNA polymerase, and viral DNA elongation continues. Therefore, the sequence containing the guanosine homopolymeric string (G-string) in the genome is the target of the incorporation and removal of acyclovir, and the incorporation of guanosine followed by repeated corrections by the proofreading machinery create a hot spot of mutations in G-strings of our laboratory and clinical acyclovir-resistant isolates (Akahoshi et al., 2017; Daikoku et al., 2016; Ida et al., 1999; Shimada et al., 2007; Talarico, Phelps, & Biron, 1993). Penciclovir (famciclovir) and ganciclovir (valganciclovir), which are guanosine analogues, function as an anti-herpes simplex virus and varicella-zoster virus agent and anti-cytomegalovirus agent, respectively, with mechanisms similar to acyclovir, but they do not induce mutations or have hot spots in the G-string. These compounds do not prevent elongation at the incorporation site but are incorporated, and elongation pauses at normal nucleotides after the incorporated site. Therefore, mutations associated with proofreading do not occur in the G-string, and this difference in the mode of chain termination and proofreading activity causes a lower mutation frequency in subjects treated with penciclovir and ganciclovir than in subjects treated with acyclovir.

If favipiravir induces mismatches as a mutagen, favipiravir should allow elongation after its incorporation into the elongating RNA strand and induce mismatches at the favipiravir-incorporated sites in the new complementary strand. This possibility is inconsistent with the mechanism of favipiravir as a chain terminator. Thus, the increased mutation rates observed in response to favipiravir treatment are unlikely to be due to the incorporation of favipiravir into viral RNA followed by elongation, similar to ribavirin or acyclovir (Fig. 5). Favipiravir is unlikely to induce mismatches upon its incorporation into the RNA strand and transitions in the influenza virus genome. The increased rate of transition mutations observed after favipiravir treatment is presumed to be due to the biased nucleotide pool induced by the increase in the level of favipiravir-RTP and the properties of viral RdRp.

6.4. RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) of influenza virus causes mutations

A biased nucleotide pool is a major factor that promotes polymerase-induced mutation synthesis (Wheeler, Rajagopal, & Mathews, 2005). Influenza RdRp complex is composed of PB1, PB2, and PA and requires four nucleotides, ATP, GTP, CTP, and UTP, as substrates for RNA synthesis. Influenza RdRp incorporates mismatched nucleotides in a primer-extension-based misincorporation assay in the presence of completely biased nucleotide pools consisting of only three nucleotides instead of all four nucleotides (Aggarwal, Bradel-Tretheway, Takimoto, Dewhurst, & Kim, 2010). Even if one of the four nucleotides is missing, its absence is compensated by other nucleotides, and the RNA strand continues to elongate, causing mismatches. Therefore, even in the absence of a mutagen, mismatches should occur during RNA synthesis under biased nucleotide pool conditions as if the mutagen is present.

Influenza RdRp displays a significantly higher fidelity than human immunodeficiency virus-1 reverse transcriptase and T7 RNA polymerase and an equivalent or higher fidelity than murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase (Aggarwal et al., 2010). The mutation frequency of influenza RdRp is 7.06×10^{-4} nucleotides in wild-type H3N2 virus

(Cheung et al., 2014) and >7.26 × 10⁻⁵ nucleotides deduced from 108 sequenced clones of an average of 849 bases from the database (Drake, 1993), and these values are much larger than those of herpesvirus DNA polymerases with proofreading activity at the levels of 1.38×10^{-7} per nucleotide (Lee et al., 2015) to 3×10^{-9} substitutions per site per year (McGeoch, Dolan, & Ralph, 2000). These results indicate the low fidelity of the RdRp activity of influenza lacking proofreading activity.

Jurkat cells exposed to 500 µM guanosine for 24 h show an increase in GTP pools to 600% of the control and a decrease in ATP to 40% of the control (Batiuk, Schnizlein-Bick, Plotkin, & Dagher, 2001). Thus, the intracellular condition of biased nucleotide pools alone is sufficient to increase the ratios of mismatched transition mutations without treatment with mutagens such as ribavirin. Ribavirin reduces GTP levels by inhibiting inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase, but favipiravir has little effect on GTP levels (Furuta et al., 2005; Vanderlinden et al., 2016).

As a guanosine analogue, extracellular favipiravir may bias the nucleotide pools, and favipiravir-RTP competes with GTP or ATP, resulting in an increase in the transition mutations, although data are not available to support this speculation. An observed increase in the transition frequency is presumed to be due to the low fidelity of RdRp of influenza virus and misincorporation of nucleotides by the biased nucleotide pools in favipiravir-treated cells. Favipiravir is a chain terminator without direct mutagenic activity but increases the number of mismatches in the genome due to the induction of biased nucleotide pools in the favipiravir-treated cultures.

7. Favipiravir-resistant mutants

7.1. Comparison of the generation of resistant herpesvirus and influenza virus

We have isolated a herpes simplex virus resistant to acyclovir, phosphonoacetic acid, and foscarnet, a varicella-zoster virus resistant to acyclovir, penciclovir, foscarnet, and vidarabine, and a cytomegalovirus resistant to ganciclovir, foscarnet, and mizoribine by culturing the virus in the presence of these antiviral agents (Ida et al., 1999; Ida et al., 2000; Kamiyama, Kurokawa, & Shiraki, 2001; Kuramoto et al., 2010; Kurosaki et al., 2004; Miwa et al., 2005; Mori et al., 1988; Shiraki, Ogino, Yamanishi, & Takahashi, 1983, 1985). These resistant viruses replace the virus population in the presence of drug in vitro and in patients. The emergence and replacement of resistant strains occurs in the herpetic lesions in immunocompromised individuals when a lesion with viral growth is treated for at least one or two weeks.

An oseltamivir- or baloxavir marboxil (baloxavir)-resistant virus has emerged in patients with seasonal influenza during treatment, and the isolated virus has been replaced by a resistant virus. A subsequent new infection by the resistant virus has been confirmed. Therefore, we investigated the possibility that a favipiravir-resistant virus appeared in cultured cells while influenza virus was growing in the presence of favipiravir and that the proliferating virus was replaced by a resistant virus.

7.2. The lack of generation of favipiravir-resistant mutants in cultures treated with favipiravir

We tried to isolate favipiravir-resistant influenza virus and poliovirus from 28 and 10 25 cm² flasks, respectively, after independent cultures in the presence of increasing concentrations of favipiravir for a month, but no resistant virus was isolated (Daikoku et al., 2014; Daikoku et al., 2017). Then, we decided to deny the possibility of replacement with the resistant virus. Spontaneous mutation rates of the influenza virus RdRp complex and poliovirus 3D RdRp are both approximately 1×10^{-4} (Cheung et al., 2014; Drake, 1993; Gubareva & Fry, 2019). Titers of influenza virus and poliovirus in the culture reach approximately 10^8 infectious viral particles/mL in 5 mL of media in a 25 cm² flask, and their genomes contain approximately 13,600 and 7500 base pairs, respectively, stochastically indicating 10⁴ alterations per nucleotide in the genome. Therefore, every type of mutant should be generated during replication, and continuous cultivation for a month might increase the favipiravir-resistant virus population. If favipiravir induces mutations more frequently than natural processes, mutants resistant to favipiravir should be isolated easily, and the culture should be replaced by the favipiravir-resistant mutants. We isolated susceptibility variants of influenza virus and poliovirus in the cultures treated with favipiravir for a month and identified nucleotide substitutions (mutations) in their RdRp genes, but these mutations were not related to resistance or mutations common to favipiravir (Daikoku et al., 2014; Daikoku et al., 2017). Therefore, theoretical resistant mutants should be generated but are unable to replicate or replicate with reduced fidelity to replace the entire virus population. The favipiravirresistant mutant replicates as an artificially generated clone but does not become dominant among the entire virus population that grows in the presence of favipiravir (Abdelnabi et al., 2017; Delang et al., 2014; Goldhill et al., 2019). Our results are consistent with the absence of a resistant virus in the entire virus population treated with favipiravir.

7.3. Characteristics of favipiravir-resistant mutants

Many laboratories have attempted to isolate favipiravir-resistant influenza viruses but have not been successful. Recently, mutants of influenza virus (Goldhill et al., 2018) and chikungunya virus (Abdelnabi et al., 2017; Delang et al., 2014) that are less susceptible to favipiravir have been reported. Mutated sequences of these viruses have been detected in cultures treated with favipiravir, and reverse-engineered viruses showed favipiravir resistance with altered RdRp activity related to the fidelity and reduced growth property.

The K229R mutation in motif F of the PB1 gene was observed in the virus population cultivated in the presence of favipiravir, and a virus with the K229R mutation was created by reverse engineering and confirmed as a favipiravir-resistant virus. However, the virus was artificially produced and grown as a clone and is not considered a dominant virus in the culture. A K229R mutation in P1 shows reduced polymerase activity and acquired P653L in the PA during replication. The acquisition of the additional PA P653L mutation restores the polymerase activity and favipiravir resistance (Goldhill et al., 2018).

The K291R mutation in the F1 motif of the RdRp (nsP4) in chikungunya virus is less susceptible to favipiravir, displays a reduced growth property and acquired an additional Y543C mutation in the helicase-protease (nsP2) during passages in the absence of favipiravir (Delang et al., 2014). The corresponding K-to-R substitution (K159R) of the chikungunya virus K291R mutation was introduced in the coxsackievirus B3 RdRp, but the engineered virus with the K159R mutation in RdRp was a nonviable virus (Abdelnabi et al., 2017). The replication competence of the K159R variant is restored by the additional acquisition of an A239G substitution in the RdRp. The variant virus with the K159R and K291R mutations is more susceptible to favipiravir and exhibited lower fidelity than the wild-type virus.

A common feature of less susceptible viruses is high fidelity of RdRp that may distinguish favipiravir-RTP and GTP and replicate in the presence of favipiravir by avoiding the incorporation of favipiravir-RTP. Since their proliferative ability is not high, clones that are less susceptible to favipiravir grow well alone or are not viable, but an additional alteration that modulates RdRp activity restores the replication capability and the susceptibility to favipiravir (Abdelnabi et al., 2017; Delang et al., 2014; Goldhill et al., 2019). Favipiravir-resistant mutants of influenza virus have been created by reverse-engineering and replicate as a clone with a reduced growth property. Therefore, this virus is unlikely to replace the entire growing virus population when it is produced during favipiravir treatment, as has been observed in many laboratories.

Two highly pathogenic A(H5N1) influenza viruses from chicken and Muscovy duck and one H3 influenza virus from ruddy turnstone and two swine (H1N1) origin influenza viruses possess the PB1-V43I mutation that may result in a high-fidelity RdRp but has not been confirmed (Cheung et al., 2014). Thus, researchers should consider the possibility of changes in the susceptibility to favipiravir when these types of influenza viruses cause a pandemic.

7.4. A favipiravir-resistant virus has not appeared in clinical trials

Antiviral susceptibility was examined in 57 pairs of influenza viruses isolated from patients before and after the administration of favipiravir in phase 3 clinical trials. No viruses displayed reduced susceptibility to favipiravir, although two of 20 paired A(H1N1)pdm09 isolates, one of 17 paired A(H3N2) isolates and one of 20 paired B viruses possessed amino acid substitutions in the RdRp subunits PB1, PB2 and PA after favipiravir administration (Takashita et al., 2016). These amino acid substitutions in the RdRp had nothing to do with the susceptibility of favipiravir and seemed to have occurred regardless of favipiravir treatment. This trial was a limited clinical study to assess the emergence of favipiravir-resistant virus, but the appearance of oseltamivir or baloxavir resistance might be observed in clinical trials of influenza treatment with oseltamivir and baloxavir with a similar number of patients, as described in Section 4.3. The lack of the emergence and replacement of resistant viruses during favipiravir treatment in vitro and in humans indicates that the same effectiveness of favipiravir is expected to be maintained from the beginning to the end of the influenza pandemic and that all patients could be treated effectively.

8. Organ function and lethal virus infection

Causes of death from severe infections may be liver failure, renal failure, respiratory failure and encephalitis. Ebola virus infection seemed to be difficult for patients when they had the chance of infection or fever after infection, and the amount of virus was used as an indicator of the time of infection (Sissoko et al., 2016). Renal function represented by creatinine levels was found to be an important factor for prognosis. The factor that determines survival and death rate with favipiravir treatment seems to be residual organ function at the start of treatment in fatal infections caused by cytotoxic RNA viruses.

The residual function necessary for the recovery of each organ can be estimated from the indication criteria for organ transplantation. One of the criteria for lung function for lung transplant patients is a forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV1) less than 25–30% (Maurer, Frost, Estenne, Higenbottam, & Glanville, 1998). Concerning renal function, hemodialysis starts when renal function falls to 10–15%, and death occurs within one to several weeks when dialysis is stopped (National Kidney Foundation, 2019). Concerning liver function, the donor's liver is left as a residual liver volume of at least 30% of the total liver volume to ensure hepatic graft with excellent results and low donor morbidity (Pomfret, Pomposelli, & Jenkins, 2001). It is important to begin treatment before losing the recoverable function of the target organ.

Since pneumonia is the main cause of death by influenza, it may progress to some extent even after the start of treatment. Time from illness onset to oseltamivir treatment in avian influenza A(H7N9) virus infection is 6 days (5–9 days), and time from illness onset to the development of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is 7 days (5–9 days) (Li et al., 2014), indicating the importance of early diagnosis and treatment.

In Ebola virus infection, other than the direct cause of death related to bleeding such as hemorrhagic shock, the degree of liver dysfunction and renal dysfunction seems to be related to survival and death rate as seen in an animal model treated with favipiravir (Oestereich, et al., 2014). SFTS is mainly caused by tick bites and develops with fever. Liver and renal dysfunction in SFTS may be the cause of death. In Yamaguchi Prefecture, where the first patient was found in Japan, dermatologists who have examined tick bites monitor the development of SFTS to enable early treatment.

9. Conclusions and future perspectives

Favipiravir has been developed as an anti-influenza drug with efficacy against severe infections caused by a high viral load and was approved as an anti-influenza drug in Japan. Favipiravir has a similar mechanism of action to the antiherpesvirus drug acyclovir and has the property of not producing a resistant virus. Favipiravir is contraindicated in pregnant women due to its teratogenicity and embryotoxicity in animals. Subsequent stockpiling of doses for 2 million people has been performed as a countermeasure against novel influenza in Japan. Favipiravir has been used to treat lethal infections in humans because its efficacy has been confirmed in a wide range of animal models of lethal RNA infections. Severe human RNA infections are sporadic, and the number of cases is limited. In patients with these infections, favipiravir has been used for urgent and life-saving purposes because there is no standard effective treatment, rather than to show efficacy. Clinical trials have been performed to compare historical control patients and patients treated with favipiravir for Ebola virus infection (Bai et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2015; Sissoko et al., 2016) and SFTS (Yasukawa, 2016). Subsequently, favipiravir has been submitted for additional indications based on clinical trials for SFTS in Japan. The establishment of a placebo group that does not receive an effective drug in a lethal animal model is a challenging problem to confirm the efficacy of favipiravir by a randomized placebo-controlled trial. As an example of this situation, PEP of human immunodeficiency virus has been performed to protect against needle sticks or occupational exposures without placebo and has become a standard procedure in the guideline due to its prophylactic effect as a result of many years of implementation (Kuhar et al., 2013).

Since children died of avian influenza A(H5N1) in Hong Kong in 1997 (Ku & Chan, 1999), concern has been expressed about novel influenza pandemics, such as A(H5N1) and A(H7N9). An influenza pandemic consisting of a global outbreak of influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus occurred in 2009, and although the pathogenicity of this virus was milder than A(H5N1) and A(H7N9), it caused a pandemic and health problems. Although there was immunity against influenza A (H1N1)pdm09 among the elderly, it caused health problems for young people and a substantial social impact. As a next candidate for a pandemic influenza, avian influenza, such as A(H5N1) or A(H7N9), causes a severe infection and pneumonia due to the prolonged viral replication caused by the lack of immunity and its tropism to the pulmonary epithelium with a high mortality rate (Lai et al., 2016; Li et al., 2014; Shinya et al., 2006). The ability to predict whether a pandemic will occur remains challenging, but a necessary strategy appears to be to stockpile vaccines and anti-influenza drugs for novel influenza strains to cope with pandemics.

The specific features and mechanism of action of favipiravir and the fact that favipiravir alone does not produce resistant viruses among anti-influenza drugs suggests that it is expected to play a central role among anti-influenza drugs in the treatment of a lethal influenza pandemic. This review helps clinicians, scientists, and policy-makers considering preparedness strategies for an avian influenza pandemic, such as the use of the anti-influenza drug favipiravir for prophylaxis and treatment, as well as prevention through vaccination.

Declaration of Competing Interest

K.S. reports the receipt of consulting fees from Maruho Co., Ltd., lecture fees from Maruho Co., Ltd., MSD, and Novartis, and research funding from Maruho Co., Ltd., MSD, and Japan Blood Products Organization; all payments were sent to the institution.

Acknowledgments

We appreciate Mr. K. Yamada from FUJIFILM Toyama Chemical Co., Ltd. for supplying the information on the international supply of favipiravir and Elsevier Language Editing for editing the English language of the manuscript. This study was supported in part by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 16K09929, 19K07597 and 19K08940 from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan and joint research project with Toyama Chemical Co., Ltd.

References

- Abdelnabi, R., Jochmans, D., Verbeken, E., Neyts, J., & Delang, L. (2018). Antiviral treatment efficiently inhibits chikungunya virus infection in the joints of mice during the acute but not during the chronic phase of the infection. *Antiviral Research* 149, 113–117.
- Abdelnabi, R., Morais, A. T. S., Leyssen, P., Imbert, I., Beaucourt, S., Blanc, H., ... Delang, L. (2017). Understanding the mechanism of the broad-Spectrum antiviral activity of Favipiravir (T-705): Key role of the F1 motif of the viral polymerase. *Journal of Virology* 91 (e00487–17).
- Aggarwal, S., Bradel-Tretheway, B., Takimoto, T., Dewhurst, S., & Kim, B. (2010). Biochemical characterization of enzyme fidelity of influenza A virus RNA polymerase complex. *PLoS One* 5, e10372.
- Akahoshi, Y., Kanda, J., Ohno, A., Komiya, Y., Gomyo, A., Hayakawa, J., ... Kanda, Y. (2017). Acyclovir-resistant herpes simplex virus 1 infection early after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation with T-cell depletion. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy* 23, 485–487.
- Arias, A., Thorne, L., & Goodfellow, I. (2014). Favipiravir elicits antiviral mutagenesis during virus replication in vivo. *Elife* 3, e03679.
- Bai, C. Q., Mu, J. S., Kargbo, D., Song, Y. B., Niu, W. K., Nie, W. M., ... Jiang, J. F. (2016). Clinical and Virological characteristics of Ebola virus disease patients treated with Favipiravir (T-705)-Sierra Leone, 2014. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 63, 1288–1294.
- Baker, L. (2017). Bat rabies outbreak in Peru claims one, but others survive: Mass vaccination campaign underway. https://rabiesalliance.org/resource/bat-rabies-outbreakperu-claims-one-others-survive-mass-vaccination-campaign-underway.
- Baranovich, T., Wong, S. S., Armstrong, J., Marjuki, H., Webby, R. J., Webster, R. G., & Govorkova, E. A. (2013). T-705 (favipiravir) induces lethal mutagenesis in influenza A H1N1 viruses in vitro. *Journal of Virology* 87, 3741–3751.
- Batiuk, T. D., Schnizlein-Bick, C., Plotkin, Z., & Dagher, P. C. (2001). Guanine nucleosides and Jurkat cell death: Roles of ATP depletion and accumulation of deoxyribonucleotides. American Journal of Physiology. Cell Physiology 281, C1776–C1784.
- Beis, I., & Newsholme, E. A. (1975). The contents of adenine nucleotides, phosphagens and some glycolytic intermediates in resting muscles from vertebrates and invertebrates. *The Biochemical Journal* 152, 23–32.
- Bixler, S. L, Bocan, T. M., Wells, J., Wetzel, K. S., Van Tongeren, S. A., Dong, L., ... Warren, T. K. (2018). Efficacy of favipiravir (T-705) in nonhuman primates infected with Ebola virus or Marburg virus. *Antiviral Research* 151, 97–104.
- Cao, B. (2018). A Pharmacokinetics Study of Favipiravir in Patients With Severe Influenza. NCT03394209 https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03394209.
- Cardona-Ospina, J. A., Henao-SanMartin, V., Paniz-Mondolfi, A. E., & Rodriguez-Morales, A. J. (2015). Mortality and fatality due to Chikungunya virus infection in Colombia. *Journal of Clinical Virology* 70, 14–15.
- Caroline, A. L., Powell, D. S., Bethel, L. M., Oury, T. D., Reed, D. S., & Hartman, A. L. (2014). Broad spectrum antiviral activity of favipiravir (T-705): Protection from highly lethal inhalational Rift Valley fever. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 8, e2790.
- Carrat, F., Vergu, E., Ferguson, N. M., Lemaitre, M., Cauchemez, S., Leach, S., & Valleron, A. J. (2008). Time lines of infection and disease in human influenza: A review of volunteer challenge studies. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 167, 775–785.
- CDC (2017). In C. F. D. C. A. Prevention (Ed.), Influenza Type A Viruses. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases (NCIRD). https://www.cdc.gov/flu/avianflu/influenza-a-virus-subtypes.htm.
- Cheung, P. P., Watson, S. J., Choy, K. T., Fun Sia, S., Wong, D. D., Poon, L. L., ... Yen, H. L. (2014). Generation and characterization of influenza A viruses with altered polymerase fidelity. *Nature Communications* 5, 4794.
- Craig, S. P., 3rd, & Eakin, A. E. (2000). Purine phosphoribosyltransferases. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 275, 20231–20234.
- Daikoku, T., Mizuguchi, M., Obita, T., Yokoyama, T., Yoshida, Y., Takemoto, M., & Shiraki, K. (2017). Characterization of susceptibility variants of poliovirus grown in the presence of favipiravir. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology, and Infection* 51, 581–586.
- Daikoku, T., Tannai, H., Honda, M., Onoe, T., Matsuo, K., Onoye, Y., ... Shiraki, K. (2016). Subclinical generation of acyclovir-resistant herpes simplex virus with mutation of homopolymeric guanosine strings during acyclovir therapy. *Journal of Dermatological Science* 82, 160–165.
- Daikoku, T., Yoshida, Y., Okuda, T., & Shiraki, K. (2014). Characterization of susceptibility variants of influenza virus grown in the presence of T-705. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences* 126, 281–284.
- Damjanovic, D., Divangahi, M., Kugathasan, K., Small, C. L., Zganiacz, A., Brown, E. G., ... Xing, Z. (2011). Negative regulation of lung inflammation and immunopathology by TNF-alpha during acute influenza infection. *The American Journal of Pathology* 179, 2963–2976.
- Delang, L., Abdelnabi, R., & Neyts, J. (2018). Favipiravir as a potential countermeasure against neglected and emerging RNA viruses. *Antiviral Research* 153, 85–94.
- Delang, L., Segura Guerrero, N., Tas, A., Querat, G., Pastorino, B., Froeyen, M., ... Leyssen, P. (2014). Mutations in the chikungunya virus non-structural proteins cause resistance to favipiravir (T-705), a broad-spectrum antiviral. *The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 69, 2770–2784.
- Dharan, N. J., Gubareva, L. V., Meyer, J. J., Okomo-Adhiambo, M., McClinton, R. C., Marshall, S. A., ... Fry, A. M. (2009). Infections with oseltamivir-resistant influenza A(H1N1) virus in the United States. *JAMA* 301, 1034–1041.

- Diebold, S. S., Montoya, M., Unger, H., Alexopoulou, L., Roy, P., Haswell, L. E., ... Reis e Sousa, C. (2003). Viral infection switches non-plasmacytoid dendritic cells into high interferon producers. *Nature* 424, 324–328.
- Doyle, W. J., Skoner, D. P., Hayden, F., Buchman, C. A., Seroky, J. T., & Fireman, P. (1994). Nasal and otologic effects of experimental influenza A virus infection. *The Annals of Otology, Rhinology, and Laryngology* 103, 59–69.
- Drake, J. W. (1993). Rates of spontaneous mutation among RNA viruses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90, 4171–4175.
- Elion, G. B. (1982). Mechanism of action and selectivity of acyclovir. The American Journal of Medicine 73, 7–13.
- Enria, D. A., & Maiztegui, J. I. (1994). Antiviral treatment of argentine hemorrhagic fever. *Antiviral Research* 23, 23–31.
- Escribano-Romero, E., Jiménez de Oya, N., Domingo, E., & Saiz, J. C. (2017 Oct 24). Extinction of West Nile virus by favipiravir through lethal mutagenesis. *Antimicrobial Agents* and Chemotherapy 61(11). https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01400-17 (Print 2017 Nov; pii: e01400-17).
- EuroWHO (2019). Past pandemics. Influenza. http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/ communicable-diseases/influenza/pandemic-influenza/past-pandemics.
- Furuta, Y., Gowen, B. B., Takahashi, K., Shiraki, K., Smee, D. F., & Barnard, D. L. (2013). Favipiravir (T-705), a novel viral RNA polymerase inhibitor. *Antiviral Research 100*, 446–454.
- Furuta, Y., Komeno, T., & Nakamura, T. (2017). Favipiravir (T-705), a broad spectrum inhibitor of viral RNA polymerase. Proceedings of the Japan Academy. Series B, Physical and Biological Sciences 93, 449–463.
- Furuta, Y., Takahashi, K., Fukuda, Y., Kuno, M., Kamiyama, T., Kozaki, K., ... Shiraki, K. (2002). In vitro and in vivo activities of anti-influenza virus compound T-705. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 46, 977–981.
- Furuta, Y., Takahashi, K., Kuno-Maekawa, M., Sangawa, H., Uehara, S., Kozaki, K., ... Shiraki, K. (2005). Mechanism of action of T-705 against influenza virus. *Antimicrobial Agents* and Chemotherapy 49, 981–986.
- Furuta, Y., Takahashi, K., Shiraki, K., Sakamoto, K., Smee, D. F., Barnard, D. L., ... Morrey, J. D. (2009). T-705 (favipiravir) and related compounds: Novel broad-spectrum inhibitors of RNA viral infections. *Antiviral Research* 82, 95–102.
- Goldhill, D. H., Langat, P., Xie, H., Galiano, M., Miah, S., Kellam, P., ... Barclay, W. S. (2019). Determining the mutation Bias of Favipiravir in influenza virus using next-generation sequencing. *Journal of Virology* 93, e01217–e01218.
- Goldhill, D. H., Te Velthuis, A. J. W., Fletcher, R. A., Langat, P., Zambon, M., Lackenby, A., & Barclay, W. S. (2018). The mechanism of resistance to favipiravir in influenza. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115*, 11613–11618.
- Gowen, B. B., Juelich, T. L., Sefing, E. J., Brasel, T., Smith, J. K., Zhang, L., ... Freiberg, A. N. (2013). Favipiravir (T-705) inhibits Junin virus infection and reduces mortality in a Guinea pig model of argentine hemorrhagic fever. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 7, e2614.
- Gowen, B. B., Westover, J. B., Miao, J., Van Wettere, A. J., Rigas, J. D., Hickerson, B. T., ... Wang, Z. (2017). Modeling severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus infection in Golden Syrian hamsters: Importance of STAT2 in preventing disease and effective treatment with Favipiravir. *Journal of Virology 91* e01942–16.
- Gowen, B. B., Westover, J. B., Sefing, E. J., Van Wettere, A. J., Bailey, K. W., Wandersee, L., ... Furuta, Y. (2017). Enhanced protection against experimental Junin virus infection through the use of a modified favipiravir loading dose strategy. *Antiviral Research* 145, 131–135.
- Gowen, B. B., Wong, M. H., Jung, K. H., Sanders, A. B., Mendenhall, M., Bailey, K. W., ... Sidwell, R. W. (2007). In vitro and in vivo activities of T-705 against arenavirus and bunyavirus infections. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 51, 3168–3176.
- Gowen, B. B., Wong, M. H., Jung, K. H., Smee, D. F., Morrey, J. D., & Furuta, Y. (2010). Efficacy of favipiravir (T-705) and T-1106 pyrazine derivatives in phlebovirus disease models. *Antiviral Research* 86, 121–127.
- Gubareva, L. V., & Fry, A. M. (2019). Baloxavir and treatment-emergent resistance: Public health insights and next steps. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases 221*, 337–339.
- Guillot, L., Le Goffic, R., Bloch, S., Escriou, N., Akira, S., Chignard, M., & Si-Tahar, M. (2005). Involvement of toll-like receptor 3 in the immune response of lung epithelial cells to double-stranded RNA and influenza A virus. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry 280*, 5571–5580.
- Hama, Y., Kurokawa, M., Imakita, M., Yoshida, Y., Shimizu, T., Watanabe, W., & Shiraki, K. (2009). Interleukin 12 is a primary cytokine responding to influenza virus infection in the respiratory tract of mice. *Acta Virologica* 53, 233–240.
- Hawman, D. W., Haddock, E., Meade-White, K., Williamson, B., Hanley, P. W., Rosenke, K., ... Feldmann, H. (2018). Favipiravir (T-705) but not ribavirin is effective against two distinct strains of Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever virus in mice. *Antiviral Research* 157, 18–26.
- Hayden, F. G., Sugaya, N., Hirotsu, N., Lee, N., de Jong, M. D., Hurt, A. C., ... Baloxavir Marboxil Investigators, G. (2018). Baloxavir Marboxil for uncomplicated influenza in adults and adolescents. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 379, 913–923.
- Hirotsu, N., Sakaguchi, H., Sato, C., Ishibashi, T., Baba, K., Omoto, S., ... Watanabe, A. (2019). Baloxavir marboxil in Japanese pediatric patients with influenza: Safety and clinical and virologic outcomes. *Clin Infect Dis.*, ciz908. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz908.
- Hurt, A. C., Ernest, J., Deng, Y. M., Iannello, P., Besselaar, T. G., Birch, C., ... Barr, I. G. (2009). Emergence and spread of oseltamivir-resistant A(H1N1) influenza viruses in Oceania, South East Asia and South Africa. *Antiviral Research* 83, 90–93.
- Ida, M., Kageyama, S., Sato, H., Kamiyama, T., Toyomoto, T., Ozaki, T., ... Shiraki, K. (2000). Characterization of acyclovir susceptibility and genetic stability of varicella-zoster viruses isolated during acyclovir therapy. *Journal of Dermatological Science* 23, 63–72.
- Ida, M., Kageyama, S., Sato, H., Kamiyama, T., Yamamura, J., Kurokawa, M., ... Shiraki, K. (1999). Emergence of resistance to acyclovir and penciclovir in varicella-zoster

virus and genetic analysis of acyclovir-resistant variants. Antiviral Research 40, 155–166.

- Jacobs, M., Aarons, E., Bhagani, S., Buchanan, R., Cropley, I., Hopkins, S., ... Rodger, A. (2015). Post-exposure prophylaxis against Ebola virus disease with experimental antiviral agents: A case-series of health-care workers. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 15, 1300–1304.
- Jin, Z., Smith, L. K., Rajwanshi, V. K., Kim, B., & Deval, J. (2013). The ambiguous basepairing and high substrate efficiency of T-705 (Favipiravir) Ribofuranosyl 5'-triphosphate towards influenza A virus polymerase. *PLoS One 8*, e68347.
- Jochmans, D., van Nieuwkoop, S., Smits, S. L., Neyts, J., Fouchier, R. A., & van den Hoogen, B. G. (2016). Antiviral activity of Favipiravir (T-705) against a broad range of Paramyxoviruses in vitro and against human Metapneumovirus in hamsters. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 60, 4620–4629.
- Julander, J. G., Shafer, K., Smee, D. F., Morrey, J. D., & Furuta, Y. (2009). Activity of T-705 in a hamster model of yellow fever virus infection in comparison with that of a chemically related compound, T-1106. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 53, 202–209.
- Julander, J. G., Smee, D. F., Morrey, J. D., & Furuta, Y. (2009). Effect of T-705 treatment on western equine encephalitis in a mouse model. *Antiviral Research* 82, 169–171.
- Kamiyama, T., Kurokawa, M., & Shiraki, K. (2001). Characterization of the DNA polymerase gene of varicella-zoster viruses resistant to acyclovir. *The Journal of General Virology* 82, 2761–2765.
- Kiso, M., Mitamura, K., Sakai-Tagawa, Y., Shiraishi, K., Kawakami, C., Kimura, K., ... Kawaoka, Y. (2004). Resistant influenza A viruses in children treated with oseltamivir: Descriptive study. *Lancet* 364, 759–765.
- Kiso, M., Takahashi, K., Sakai-Tagawa, Y., Shinya, K., Sakabe, S., Le, Q. M., ... Kawaoka, Y. (2010). T-705 (favipiravir) activity against lethal H5N1 influenza A viruses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 882–887.
- Ku, A. S., & Chan, L. T. (1999). The first case of H5N1 avian influenza infection in a human with complications of adult respiratory distress syndrome and Reye's syndrome. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health 35*, 207–209.
- Kuhar, D. T., Henderson, D. K., Struble, K. A., Heneine, W., Thomas, V., Cheever, L. W., & US Public Health Service Working Group (2013). Updated US public health service guidelines for the management of occupational exposures to human immunodeficiency virus and recommendations for postexposure prophylaxis. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 34, 875–892.
- Kuramoto, T., Daikoku, T., Yoshida, Y., Takemoto, M., Oshima, K., Eizuru, Y., ... Shiraki, K. (2010). Novel anti-cytomegalovirus activity of immunosuppressant mizoribine and its synergism with ganciclovir. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 333, 1–6.
- Kurokawa, M., Brown, J., Kagawa, Y., & Shiraki, K. (2003). Cytokine-regulatory activity and therapeutic efficacy of cinnamyl derivatives in endotoxin shock. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 474, 283–293.
- Kurokawa, M., Imakita, M., Kumeda, C. A., & Shiraki, K. (1996). Cascade of fever production in mice infected with influenza virus. *Journal of Medical Virology* 50, 152–158.
- Kurokawa, M., Imakita, M., Kumeda, C. A., Yukawa, T. A., & Shiraki, K. (1996). Kakkon-to suppressed interleukin 1α production responsive to interferon and alleviated influenza infection in mice. J Traditional Med 13, 201–209.
- Kurokawa, M., Kumeda, C. A., Yamamura, J., Kamiyama, T., & Shiraki, K. (1998). Antipyretic activity of cinnamyl derivatives and related compounds in influenza virusinfected mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 348, 45–51.
- Kurokawa, M., Tsurita, M., Brown, J., Fukuda, Y., & Shiraki, K. (2002). Effect of interleukin-12 level augmented by Kakkon-to, a herbal medicine, on the early stage of influenza infection in mice. *Antiviral Research* 56, 183–188.
- Kurokawa, M., Watanabe, W., Shimizu, T., Sawamura, R., & Shiraki, K. (2010). Modulation of cytokine production by 7-hydroxycoumarin in vitro and its efficacy against influenza infection in mice. *Antiviral Research* 85, 373–380.
- Kurokawa, M., Yamamura, J., Li, Z., Sato, H., Hitomi, N., Tatsumi, Y., & Shiraki, K. (1998). Antipyretic activity of gingyo-san, a traditional medicine, in influenza virus-infected mice. *Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo)* 46, 1444–1447.
- Kurosaki, K., Miwa, N., Yoshida, Y., Kurokawa, M., Kurimoto, M., Endo, S., & Shiraki, K. (2004). Therapeutic basis of vidarabine on adenovirus-induced haemorrhagic cystitis. *Antiviral Chemistry & Chemotherapy* 15, 281–285.
- Lai, S., Qin, Y., Cowling, B. J., Ren, X., Wardrop, N. A., Gilbert, M., ... Yu, H. (2016). Global epidemiology of avian influenza A H5N1 virus infection in humans, 1997-2015: A systematic review of individual case data. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases 16*, e108–e118.
- Lee, K., Kolb, A. W., Sverchkov, Y., Cuellar, J. A., Craven, M., & Brandt, C. R. (2015). Recombination analysis of herpes simplex virus 1 reveals a Bias toward GC content and the inverted repeat regions. *Journal of Virology 89*, 7214–7223.
- Li, Q., Zhou, L., Zhou, M., Chen, Z., Li, F., Wu, H., ... Feng, Z. (2014). Epidemiology of human infections with avian influenza A(H7N9) virus in China. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 370, 520–532.
- Lina, B., Boucher, C., Osterhaus, A., Monto, A. S., Schutten, M., Whitley, R. J., & Nguyen-Van-Tam, J. S. (2018). Five years of monitoring for the emergence of oseltamivir resistance in patients with influenza A infections in the influenza resistance information study. *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 12, 267–278.
- Maurer, J. R., Frost, A. E., Estenne, M., Higenbottam, T., & Glanville, A. R. (1998). International guidelines for the selection of lung transplant candidates. The International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation, the American Thoracic Society, the American Society of Transplant Physicians, the European Respiratory Society. *Transplantation* 66, 951–956.
- McGeoch, D. J., Dolan, A., & Ralph, A. C. (2000). Toward a comprehensive phylogeny for mammalian and avian herpesviruses. *Journal of Virology* 74, 10401–10406.

- Meijer, A., Lackenby, A., Hungnes, O., Lina, B., van der Werf, S., Schweiger, B., ... Zambon, M. (2009). Oseltamivir-resistant influenza virus A (H1N1), Europe, 2007-08 season. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 15, 552–560.
- Memoli, M. J., Athota, R., Reed, S., Czajkowski, L., Bristol, T., Proudfoot, K., ... Taubenberger, J. K. (2014). The natural history of influenza infection in the severely immunocompromised vs nonimmunocompromised hosts. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 58, 214–224.
- Mendenhall, M., Russell, A., Smee, D. F., Hall, J. O., Skirpstunas, R., Furuta, Y., & Gowen, B. B. (2011). Effective oral favipiravir (T-705) therapy initiated after the onset of clinical disease in a model of arenavirus hemorrhagic fever. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 5, e1342.
- Miwa, N., Kurosaki, K., Yoshida, Y., Kurokawa, M., Saito, S., & Shiraki, K. (2005). Comparative efficacy of acyclovir and vidarabine on the replication of varicella-zoster virus. *Antiviral Research* 65, 49–55.
- Mori, H., Shiraki, K., Kato, T., Hayakawa, Y., Yamanishi, K., & Takahashi, M. (1988). Molecular analysis of the thymidine kinase gene of thymidine kinase-deficient mutants of varicella-zoster virus. *Intervirology* 29, 301–310.
- Morrey, J. D., Taro, B. S., Siddharthan, V., Wang, H., Smee, D. F., Christensen, A. J., & Furuta, Y. (2008). Efficacy of orally administered T-705 pyrazine analog on lethal West Nile virus infection in rodents. *Antiviral Research* 80, 377–379.
- Naesens, L., Guddat, L. W., Keough, D. T., van Kuilenburg, A. B., Meijer, J., Vande Voorde, J., & Balzarini, J. (2013). Role of human hypoxanthine guanine phosphoribosyltransferase in activation of the antiviral agent T-705 (favipiravir). *Molecular Pharmacology* 84, 615–629.
- National Kidney Foundation (2019). Hemodialysis. New York: National Kidney Foundation. https://www.kidney.org/atoz/content/hemodialysis.
- Oestereich, L., Ludtke, A., Wurr, S., Rieger, T., Munoz-Fontela, C., & Gunther, S. (2014). Successful treatment of advanced Ebola virus infection with T-705 (favipiravir) in a small animal model. *Antiviral Research* 105, 17–21.
- Oestereich, L., Rieger, T., Ludtke, A., Ruibal, P., Wurr, S., Pallasch, E., ... Gunther, S. (2016). Efficacy of Favipiravir alone and in combination with ribavirin in a lethal, Immunocompetent mouse model of Lassa fever. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases 213*, 934–938.
- Oestereich, L., Rieger, T., Neumann, M., Bernreuther, C., Lehmann, M., Krasemann, S., ... Gunther, S. (2014). Evaluation of antiviral efficacy of ribavirin, arbidol, and T-705 (favipiravir) in a mouse model for Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases 8, e2804.
- Omoto, S., Speranzini, V., Hashimoto, T., Noshi, T., Yamaguchi, H., Kawai, M., ... Cusack, S. (2018). Characterization of influenza virus variants induced by treatment with the endonuclease inhibitor baloxavir marboxil. *Scientific Reports* 8, 9633.
- Philpott, D. C. E., Nolan, M. S., Evert, N., Mayes, B., Hesalroad, D., Fonken, E., & Murray, K. O. (2019). Acute and delayed deaths after West Nile virus infection, Texas, USA, 2002-2012. Emerging Infectious Diseases 25, 256–264.
- Pomfret, E. A., Pomposelli, J. J., & Jenkins, R. L. (2001). Live donor liver transplantation. Journal of Hepatology 34, 613–624.
- Poux, C., Dondalska, A., Bergenstrahle, J., Palsson, S., Contreras, V., Arasa, C., ... Spetz, A. L. (2019). A single-stranded oligonucleotide inhibits toll-like receptor 3 activation and reduces influenza A (H1N1) infection. *Frontiers in Immunology* 10, 2161.
- Raabe, V. N., Kann, G., Ribner, B. S., Morales, A., Varkey, J. B., Mehta, A. K., ... Emory Serious Communicable Diseases, U. (2017). Favipiravir and ribavirin treatment of epidemiologically linked cases of Lassa fever. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 65, 855–859.
- Renault, P., Josseran, L., & Pierre, V. (2008). Chikungunya-related fatality rates, Mauritius, India, and Reunion Island. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 14, 1327.
- Rocha-Pereira, J., Jochmans, D., Dallmeier, K., Leyssen, P., Nascimento, M. S., & Neyts, J. (2012). Favipiravir (T-705) inhibits in vitro norovirus replication. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 424, 777–780.
- Ruis, C., Brown, L. K., Roy, S., Atkinson, C., Williams, R., Burns, S. O., ... Lowe, D. M. (2018). Mutagenesis in norovirus in response to Favipiravir treatment. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 379, 2173–2176.
- Safronetz, D., Falzarano, D., Scott, D. P., Furuta, Y., Feldmann, H., & Gowen, B. B. (2013). Antiviral efficacy of favipiravir against two prominent etiological agents of hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 57, 4673–4680.
- Safronetz, D., Rosenke, K., Westover, J. B., Martellaro, C., Okumura, A., Furuta, Y., ... Gowen, B. B. (2015). The broad-spectrum antiviral favipiravir protects Guinea pigs from lethal Lassa virus infection post-disease onset. *Scientific Reports* 5, 14775.
- Sangawa, H., Komeno, T., Nishikawa, H., Yoshida, A., Takahashi, K., Nomura, N., & Furuta, Y. (2013). Mechanism of action of T-705 ribosyl triphosphate against influenza virus RNA polymerase. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 57, 5202–5208.
- Scharton, D., Bailey, K. W., Vest, Z., Westover, J. B., Kumaki, Y., Van Wettere, A., ... Gowen, B. B. (2014). Favipiravir (T-705) protects against peracute Rift Valley fever virus infection and reduces delayed-onset neurologic disease observed with ribavirin treatment. Antiviral Research 104, 84–92.
- Shimada, Y., Suzuki, M., Shirasaki, F., Saito, E., Sogo, K., Hasegawa, M., ... Shiraki, K. (2007). Genital herpes due to acyclovir-sensitive herpes simplex virus caused secondary and recurrent herpetic whitlows due to thymidine kinase-deficient/temperature-sensitive virus. *Journal of Medical Virology* 79, 1731–1740.
- Shinya, K., Ebina, M., Yamada, S., Ono, M., Kasai, N., & Kawaoka, Y. (2006). Avian flu: Influenza virus receptors in the human airway. *Nature* 440, 435–436.
- Shiraki, K. (2017). Helicase-primase inhibitor amenamevir for herpesvirus infection: Towards practical application for treating herpes zoster. *Drugs Today (Barc)* 53, 573–584.
- Shiraki, K. (2018). Antiviral drugs against Alphaherpesvirus. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1045, 103–122.
- Shiraki, K., Ogino, T., Yamanishi, K., & Takahashi, M. (1983). Isolation of drug-resistant mutants of varicella-zoster virus - cross resistance of acyclovir resistant mutants with phosphonoacetic acid and bromodeoxyuridine. *Biken Journal 26*, 17–23.

- Shiraki, K., Ogino, T., Yamanishi, K., & Takahashi, M. (1985). Immunochemical characterization of pyrimidine kinase induced by varicella-zoster virus. *The Journal of General Virology* 66(Pt 2), 221–229.
- Sidwell, R. W., Barnard, D. L., Day, C. W., Smee, D. F., Bailey, K. W., Wong, M. H., ... Furuta, Y. (2007). Efficacy of orally administered T-705 on lethal avian influenza A (H5N1) virus infections in mice. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 51, 845–851.
- Sissoko, D., Laouenan, C., Folkesson, E., M'Lebing, A. B., Beavogui, A. H., Baize, S., ... Group, J. S. (2016). Experimental treatment with Favipiravir for Ebola virus disease (the JIKI trial): A historically controlled, single-arm proof-of-concept trial in Guinea. *PLoS Medicine* 13, e1001967.
- Smith, E. C., Blanc, H., Surdel, M. C., Vignuzzi, M., & Denison, M. R. (2013). Coronaviruses lacking exoribonuclease activity are susceptible to lethal mutagenesis: Evidence for proofreading and potential therapeutics. *PLoS Pathogens* 9, e1003565.
- Smither, S. J., Eastaugh, L. S., Steward, J. A., Nelson, M., Lenk, R. P., & Lever, M. S. (2014). Post-exposure efficacy of oral T-705 (Favipiravir) against inhalational Ebola virus infection in a mouse model. *Antiviral Research* 104, 153–155.
- Spickler, A. R. (2017). Eastern, Western and Venezuelan Equine Encephalomyelitis. The Center for Food Security and Public Health. http://www.cfsph.iastate.edu/Factsheets/ pdfs/easter_wester_venezuelan_equine_encephalomyelitis.pdf.
- Takahashi, K., Furuta, Y., Fukuda, Y., Kuno, M., Kamiyama, T., Kozaki, K., ... Shiraki, K. (2003). In vitro and in vivo activities of T-705 and oseltamivir against influenza virus. Antiviral Chemistry & Chemotherapy 14, 235–241.
- Takashita, E., Ejima, M., Ogawa, R., Fujisaki, S., Neumann, G., Furuta, Y., ... Odagiri, T. (2016). Antiviral susceptibility of influenza viruses isolated from patients pre- and post-administration of favipiravir. *Antiviral Research* 132, 170–177.
- Takashita, E., Ichikawa, M., Morita, H., Ogawa, R., Fujisaki, S., Shirakura, M., ... Odagiri, T. (2019). Human-to-human transmission of influenza A(H3N2) virus with reduced susceptibility to Baloxavir, Japan, February 2019. *Emerging Infectious Diseases 25*, 2008–2111.
- Talarico, C. L., Phelps, W. C., & Biron, K. K. (1993). Analysis of the thymidine kinase genes from acyclovir-resistant mutants of varicella-zoster virus isolated from patients with AIDS. Journal of Virology 67, 1024–1033.
- Tanaka, T., Kamiyama, T., Daikoku, T., Takahashi, K., Nomura, N., Kurokawa, M., & Shiraki, K. (2017). T-705 (Favipiravir) suppresses tumor necrosis factor alpha production in response to influenza virus infection: A beneficial feature of T-705 as an antiinfluenza drug. Acta Virologica 61, 48–55.
- Tani, H., Fukuma, A., Fukushi, S., Taniguchi, S., Yoshikawa, T., Iwata-Yoshikawa, N., ... Saijo, M. (2016). Efficacy of T-705 (Favipiravir) in the treatment of infections with lethal severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus. *mSphere* 1(1) Jan-Feb. e00061–15.
- Tsurita, M., Kurokawa, M., Imakita, M., Fukuda, Y., Watanabe, Y., & Shiraki, K. (2001). Early augmentation of interleukin (IL)-12 level in the airway of mice administered orally

with clarithromycin or intranasally with IL-12 results in alleviation of influenza infection. The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 298, 362–368.

- Uehara, T., Hayden, F. G., Kawaguchi, K., Omoto, S., Hurt, A. C., De Jong, M. D., ... Kida, H. (2020 Jan 14). (2019). Treatment-emergent influenza variant viruses with reduced Baloxavir susceptibility: Impact on clinical and Virologic outcomes in uncomplicated influenza. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 221(3), 346–355.
- Vanderlinden, E., Vrancken, B., Van Houdt, J., Rajwanshi, V. K., Gillemot, S., Andrei, G., ... Naesens, L. (2016). Distinct effects of T-705 (Favipiravir) and ribavirin on influenza virus replication and viral RNA synthesis. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 60, 6679–6691.
- Vignuzzi, M., Stone, J. K., & Andino, R. (2005). Ribavirin and lethal mutagenesis of poliovirus: Molecular mechanisms, resistance and biological implications. *Virus Research* 107, 173–181.
- Wang, Y., Fan, G., Salam, A., Horby, P., Hayden, F. G., Chen, C., ... Network, C. A. -C. (2019). Comparative effectiveness of combined favipiravir and oseltamivir therapy versus oseltamivir monotherapy in critically ill patients with influenza virus infection. J Infect Dis, jiz656. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiz656.
- Westover, J. B., Sefing, E. J., Bailey, K. W., Van Wettere, A. J., Jung, K. H., Dagley, A., ... Gowen, B. B. (2016). Low-dose ribavirin potentiates the antiviral activity of favipiravir against hemorrhagic fever viruses. *Antiviral Research* 126, 62–68.
- Wheeler, L. J., Rajagopal, I., & Mathews, C. K. (2005). Stimulation of mutagenesis by proportional deoxyribonucleoside triphosphate accumulation in Escherichia coli. DNA Repair (Amst) 4, 1450–1456.
- Whitley, R. J., Hayden, F. G., Reisinger, K. S., Young, N., Dutkowski, R., Ipe, D., ... Ward, P. (2001). Oral oseltamivir treatment of influenza in children. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 20, 127–133.
- Wong, J. P., Christopher, M. E., Viswanathan, S., Karpoff, N., Dai, X., Das, D., ... Salazar, A. M. (2009). Activation of toll-like receptor signaling pathway for protection against influenza virus infection. *Vaccine* 27, 3481–3483.
- Yamada, K., Noguchi, K., Komeno, T., Furuta, Y., & Nishizono, A. (2015). Efficacy of Favipiravir (T-705) in rabies Postexposure prophylaxis. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases 213*, 1253–1261.
- Yang, C. W., & Chen, S. M. (2012). A comparative study of human TLR 7/8 stimulatory trimer compositions in influenza A viral genomes. PLoS One 7, e30751.
- Yasukawa, M. (2016). Clinical study of favipiravir for patients with severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome. In UMIN000022398 https://upload.umin.ac.jp/cgi-openbin/ctr_e/ctr_view.cgi?recptno=R000033194.
- Zhu, W., Zhang, Z., He, S., Wong, G., Banadyga, L., & Qiu, X. (2018). Successful treatment of Marburg virus with orally administrated T-705 (Favipiravir) in a mouse model. *Antiviral Research* 151, 39–49.